Journal of Mathematical Fluid Mechanics



Feedback Stabilization of a Two-Fluid Surface Tension System Modeling the Motion of a Soap Bubble at Low Reynolds Number: The Two-Dimensional Case

Sébastien Court

Communicated by S. Shkoller

Abstract. The aim of this paper is to design a feedback operator for stabilizing in infinite time horizon a system modeling the interactions between a viscous incompressible fluid and the deformation of a soap bubble. The latter is represented by an interface separating a bounded domain of \mathbb{R}^2 into two connected parts filled with viscous incompressible fluids. The interface is a smooth perturbation of the 1-sphere, and the surrounding fluids satisfy the incompressible Stokes equations in time-dependent domains. The mean curvature of the surface defines a surface tension force which induces a jump of the normal trace of the Cauchy stress tensor. The response of the fluids is a velocity trace on the interface, governing the time evolution of the latter, via the equality of velocities. The data are assumed to be sufficiently small, in particular the initial perturbation, that is the initial shape of the soap bubble is close enough to a circle. The control function is a surface tension type force on the interface. We design it as the sum of two feedback operators: one is explicit, the second one is finite-dimensional. They enable us to define a control operator that stabilizes locally the soap bubble to a circle with an arbitrary exponential decay rate, up to translations, and up to non-contact with the outer boundary.

Mathematics Subject Classification. 76D55, 76D45, 93B52, 93D15, 35R35.

Keywords. Feedback stabilization, Incompressible viscous fluid, Surface tension, Free boundary problems.

Contents

1. Introduction

- 1.1. The Model
- 1.2. Main Result
- 1.3. Method
- 2. Functional Setting and Preliminaries
 - 2.1. Function Spaces and Notation
 - 2.2. On the Surface Tension Model and the Stationary States
 - 2.3. The Kernel of $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$ and the Lack of Coercivity
 - 2.4. Regularization
- 3. Extension of Diffeomorphisms and Change of Variables
 - 3.1. Extension of Diffeomorphisms
 - 3.2. Change of Variables and System Transformation
- 4. On the Linearized System
 - 4.1. A Poincaré-Steklov Operator
 - 4.2. The Semi-homogeneous System
 - 4.3. The Non-homogeneous System
- 5. Feedback Operator for the Linear System
 - 5.1. Approximate Controllability
 - 5.2. Feedback Operator
- 6. Feedback Stabilization of the Nonlinear System
- 7. Comments on a Possible Extension to Dimension 3

A Appendix A.1 Proof of Proposition 3.1 A.2 Proof of Proposition 4.1 and Corollary 4.1 Proof of Proposition 4.1 Proof of Corollary 4.1 References

1. Introduction

In this paper we consider a model that describes the time evolution of an interface $\Gamma(t)$ separating a bounded fluid domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ into two connected components. The fluid is assumed to be viscous and incompressible. This interface represents a soap bubble, and is subject to surface tension forces. Surface tension is the result of intermolecular forces in fluids (air or liquid, see [64]). We consider the low Reynolds number case, that is the inertia forces are assumed to be negligible compared to the other involved forces (viscosity effects, surface tension, electric field, etc...), which is typically the case of blood flows [39] containing globules [9]. We will also neglect the temperature effects. Our aim is to stabilize the deformations of this soap bubble such that this latter converges to a circle, with a prescribed exponential decay rate, via the design of a feedback operator acting on the interface. Our contribution falls within the modeling and mathematical aspects of the motion of bubbles out of equilibrium.

1.1. The Model

Due to incompressibility, the volume contained inside the soap bubble remains constant, and any sphere of this volume, strictly contained in Ω , can be considered as the sphere of reference Γ_s . Denoting by $X(\cdot, t)$ the Lagrangian deformation of this sphere, the deformed soap bubble is given by $\Gamma(t) = X(\Gamma_s, t)$, with the initial condition $X_0 = X(\cdot, 0)$, and separates the whole domain Ω into two subdomains $\Omega^+(t)$ and $\Omega^-(t)$, corresponding to the exterior and the interior of the soap bubble, respectively. The geometric description and notation are given in Fig. 1.

We will assume throughout the paper that $\Gamma(t)$ is a Jordan curve, that $X(\cdot, t)$ is invertible and orientation preserving, and the *non-contact* condition, that is $\Gamma(t) \subset \mathring{\Omega}$. This can be guaranteed by



FIG. 1. Deformation of the soap bubble, from the reference configuration Γ_s , to $\Gamma(t)$ at time t

assuming the data smooth and sufficiently small, in particular X_0 close enough to the identity, implying that $X(\cdot, t)$ stays close to the identity as well. With this condition, we then have $\Gamma(t) = \partial \Omega^-(t)$ and $\partial \Omega^+(t) = \partial \Omega \cup \Gamma(t)$ (disjoint union), and $\Omega^+(t)$ is connected. The deformation X and the velocity/pressure couples $(u^+, p^+), (u^-, p^-)$ constitute the unknowns of the following system

$$\begin{aligned} -\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{+}, p^{+}) &= f^{+} & \text{in } \Omega^{+}(t), \ t \in (0, \infty), \\ -\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{-}, p^{-}) &= f^{-} & \text{in } \Omega^{-}(t), \ t \in (0, \infty), \\ & \operatorname{div} u^{+} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega^{+}(t), \ t \in (0, \infty), \\ & \operatorname{div} u^{-} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega^{-}(t), \ t \in (0, \infty), \\ & u^{+} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty), \\ & u^{+} = u^{-} = \frac{\partial X}{\partial t} \left(X(\cdot, t)^{-1}, t \right), \ \text{on } \Gamma(t), \ t \in (0, \infty), \\ & \sigma(u^{+}, p^{+})n^{+} + \sigma(u^{-}, p^{-})n^{-} = \mu \kappa n^{-} + g \ \text{on } \Gamma(t), t \in (0, \infty), \\ & X(\cdot, 0) = X_{0} \ \text{on } \Gamma_{s}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\Gamma(t) = X(\Gamma_s, t)$ splits Ω into $\Omega^+(t)$ and $\Omega^-(t)$. We adopt the Lagrangian formalism for describing the interface $\Gamma(t)$: Particles of coordinates $x \in \Gamma(t)$ are obtained uniquely from particles $y \in \Gamma_s$ as x = X(y,t), and their velocity writes $\frac{\partial X}{\partial t}(y,t)$. On the other hand, the Eulerian velocities u^+ or $u^$ describe the velocity field of particles occupying position $x \in \Omega^+(t)$ or $\Omega^-(t)$ at time t. Therefore from the equality of particle velocities on $\Gamma(t)$ we have the relation $\frac{\partial X}{\partial t}(y,t) = u^+(X(y,t),t) = u^-(X(y,t),t)$, leading to the equality of Eulerian velocities on $\Gamma(t)$ above, by using $y = X(x,t)^{-1}$. The pressure variables p^+ and p^- play the role of Lagrange multipliers for the zero divergence conditions, referring to the incompressibility of the fluid. We have introduced the Cauchy stress tensor $\sigma(u, p) := 2\nu\varepsilon(u) - p \operatorname{Id}$, where $\varepsilon(u) := \operatorname{Sym}(\nabla u) = \frac{1}{2}(\nabla u + \nabla u^T)$, and the viscosity $\nu > 0$ is constant and assumed to be the same in $\Omega^+(t)$ and $\Omega^-(t)$, for the sake of simplicity, but without loss of generality. We denoted by n^+ and $n^$ the outward unit normal of $\Omega^+(t)$ and $\Omega^-(t)$, respectively. By default we denote $n = n^- = -n^+$. The parameter $\mu > 0$ is a given constant surface tension coefficient, and κ denotes the mean curvature of $\Gamma(t)$, with the convention $\kappa < 0$ for the 1-sphere. In dimension 2, the mean curvature is simply called the curvature. The right-hand-sides f^+ and f^- are given volume forces, representing for example the effect of an electric field [71], or some density contribution like in the case gravity Stokes flows [32], leading to the so-called Stokes-transport system [40, 43]. The function q is a surface tension type force, acting on the interface $\Gamma(t)$. It will be considered as the control function, and will be chosen in the form of a feedback operator. For the sake of concision, we rewrite the system above as follows:

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = f^{\pm} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega^{\pm}(t), \ t \in (0, \infty),$$
(1a)

$$\iota^{+} = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty), \tag{1b}$$

$$u^{\pm} = \frac{\partial X}{\partial t} \left(X(\cdot, t)^{-1}, t \right) \quad \text{and} \quad -\left[\sigma(u, p) \right] n = \mu \kappa n + g \text{ on } \Gamma(t), \ t \in (0, \infty), \tag{1c}$$

$$X(\cdot, 0) = X_0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s. \tag{1d}$$

We have denoted by $[\varphi] = \varphi^+ - \varphi^-$ the jump across $\Gamma(t)$ of a vector/matrix field, and by φ^{\pm} when we consider φ^+ and φ^- separately, simultaneously, and respectively. In (1c), the control function g and the surface tension force $\mu \kappa n$ induces the jump of $\sigma(u, p)n$ across $\Gamma(t)$, and the response of the surrounding fluid is the trace of the velocity field on the interface $\Gamma(t)$, governing the time evolution of the latter via the time derivative of $X(\cdot, t)$. Recall that mapping $X(\cdot, t)$ determines the interface $\Gamma(t)$, and therefore also the domains $\Omega^{\pm}(t)$ in which the Stokes equations are set, as well as the mean curvature that satisfies the relation $\kappa n = \Delta_{\Gamma(t)}$ Id, involving the Laplace-Beltrami operator. Thus system (1) couples in a nonlinear manner the geometry given by $X(\cdot, t)$ and the state variables of the fluid, namely (u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) .

Existence of solutions for such a model in the context of two fluids separated by a closed free interface has been studied by Denisova and Solonnikov [21,24], in line with prior contributions [19,20,22,23,61],

based on the work of Rivkind [54–57]. More recently Prüss and Simonett revisited wellposedness questions in the context of the L^p -maximal regularity [46–48], addressing also the case of phase transitions [49–51]. Modeling aspects, leading to the transmission equations on $\Gamma(t)$, were first introduced in [58], as far as we know. Addressing advanced wellposedness questions for systems of type (1) can be a difficult task, as for example global existence of solutions for the Navier-Stokes model is still an open problem (see for example [28] dealing with the notion of varifold solutions). We refer to [25] for an exploration in this direction. Note that in this article the equality of velocities in (1c) which governs the time evolution of the interface will be treated as Dirichlet-type boundary conditions, but we could also represent the flow of surfaces $\Gamma(t)$ via the Peskin formulation [45], the so-called *immersed boundary method*, which consists in writing this equality as an integral supported by a delta function. In this fashion, recent wellposedness contributions were provided in [31,33,34,44,59]. At low Reynolds number, namely for the Stokes model, let us mention the recent contributions [41,42]. Let us also mention that stability questions were addressed in [32,67]. In the present article we will only be interested in the stabilizability question, and will address wellposedness only for the linearized system as well as for the feedback-control-stabilized nonlinear system (1).

1.2. Main Result

Note that the volume enclosed by $\Gamma(t)$ is constant and prescribed by the one enclosed by the reference circle Γ_s , due to incompressibility. Since any circle of the same volume, strictly included inside Ω , is a stationary state (see Lemma 2.1), we can decide to stabilize system (1) around any of these circles, and thus stabilization *around the sphere* is understood up to elements of the following space

$$\mathcal{C}_{\Gamma_s} = \left\{ X_c \in \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s) \text{ such that } X_c(\Gamma_s) \subset \mathring{\Omega} \text{ is a circle of the same radius as } \Gamma_s \right\}.$$

The initial configuration Γ_0 is represented via the deformation X_0 of Γ_s , so that $\Gamma_0 = X_0(\Gamma_s)$. Since we need smallness assumptions on the data, in particular X_0 , in practice we can choose $X_c \in \mathcal{C}_{\Gamma_s}$ such that $\|X_0 - X_c\|_{\mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)}$ is minimal, for example by restricting \mathcal{C}_{Γ_s} to translations. We refer to Remark 2.1 in Sect. 2.2 for further comments. This amounts to say that Γ_0 is *close* to a circle of the same radius as Γ_s . The main result of the present article is Theorem 1.1:

Theorem 1.1. Choose $X_c \in C_{\Gamma_s}$. Let be $X_0 \in \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2$ and $f^{\pm} = f_{|\Omega^{\pm}(t)}$ such that $f \in \mathrm{L}^2(0,\infty; \mathbf{L}^2(\Omega))$. For all $\lambda > 0$, there exists a finite-dimensional linear operator \mathcal{K}_{λ} , depending only on λ , Γ_s , ν and μ , such that if the quantities $||X_0 - X_c||_{\mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)}$ and $||e^{\lambda t}f||_{\mathrm{L}^2(0,\infty;\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega))}$ are small enough, then the solution of system (1) with

$$g = \left((\det \mathfrak{g})^{-1/2} \left(\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \left((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} (X - X_c) \right) + \mathcal{K}_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} (X - X_c) \right) \right) \circ X^{-1}$$

satisfies

$$\left\| e^{\lambda t} (X - X_c) \right\|_{L^2(0,\infty;\mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2) \cap \mathrm{H}^1(0,\infty;\mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2)} \le C \|X_0 - X_c\|_{\mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)},$$

Where τ_s denotes the tangent vector of Γ_s , C > 0 is a constant, and g denotes the metric tensor of $\Gamma(t)$.

This result implies the asymptotic convergence towards a stationary state corresponding to an immobile circle, up to a translation in \mathbb{R}^2 . Note that in the choice of g, we need two different operators, one explicit, namely $\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s}((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} (X - X_c))$, and one of finite dimension. Both deal with the tangential derivative of $X - X_c$. This feedback stabilization result is in line with many others obtained for other fluid–structure models, for example [13,14,53]. But as far as we know, there are very few mathematical contributions that address control-related questions for models involving surface tension forces: The models considered in [2,8,11,18,30] deal with free boundary problems, that do not involve jump conditions like in (1c). However, other non-mathematical references explain the practical realization of surface tension controls on a small scale [12,52].

1.3. Method

Like in [13,14,53], our method is based on the feedback stabilization of the linearized system. For deriving the latter, we first need to rewrite system (1) in cylindrical domains, in order to uncouple the fluid domains and the state variables, in particular the deformation X. Since this surface deformation is initially defined on Γ_s only, we need to define a suitable extension to the whole domain, which leads us to study the non-trivial question of extension of diffeomorphisms from boundaries. This is realized in Sect. 3.1, and the corresponding proof relies on recent results on the harmonic extensions of diffeomorphisms (see Appendix A.1).

Concerning the model, for the sake of simplicity, in the fluid domain we choose to consider the linear stationary Stokes system, which corresponds to a low Reynolds number fluid. Considering fluid models at average or high Reynolds number would introduce other difficulties. For example, in [16, 17] the authors consider the Euler system, and existence of solutions is obtained with high-order energy estimates, without any operator formulation that could be used for designing a possible feedback operator. On the other hand, addressing the Navier–Stokes system consists classically in deriving an operator formulation of the linearized system, involving the non-stationary Stokes system, for which a *lifting method* is used. For the present model, based on jump conditions, it is not clear how a lifting method would enable us to derive an operator formulation. Still in the case of the non-stationary Stokes equations with transmission conditions, the respective authors of [47] and [21] first reduced the interface to a straight line, and derived existence and uniqueness results via pseudo-differential calculus techniques, which lead to a space-time operator for describing the solution. In practice, such approaches can not be used in a infinite-horizon stabilization problem, moreover dealing with general surfaces. Further, the unique continuation argument used in our case for obtaining approximate controllability and stabilizability of the linearized system does not apply to the case of the non-stationary Stokes system, as the latter would necessitate taking into consideration zeros of spherical harmonics, leading to difficulties that go beyond the scope of this article.

Therefore we adopt the stationary Stokes equations, as we prefer to focus on the time-evolution of the interface displacement, more specifically an operator formulation that involves the time derivative of the interface displacement only. For the linearized system, involving the Stokes system in time-independent domains, we describe the solution via a stationary Poincaré-Steklov operator denoted by \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} , of Neumann-to-Dirichlet type, mapping the different transmission conditions. The existence of this operator is obtained via the Ladyzhenskaya-Babuška-Brezzi condition. Next the operator formulation for time-evolution of the interface displacement is obtained, involving \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} , as follows

$$\frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \mu \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}(\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s} Z) = \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} G \text{ on } \Gamma_s \times (0, \infty), \quad Z(\cdot, 0) = X_0 - \operatorname{Id} \text{ on } \Gamma_s,$$

where Z = X – Id represents the displacement of the interface, $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s} := (n_s \otimes n_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s}$, and G represents a control function to be chosen in a feedback form. Since $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$ is not coercive (see Sect. 2.3), we define a first feedback operator as $\mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{\tau_s} Z$, where $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{r_s} Z := (\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$, so that $Z \mapsto -\mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s} Z - \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{\tau_s} Z = -\Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z$ is coercive. This operator is explicit, and supported on the tangent to Γ_s , which is compatible with possible practical realization. The resulting operator generates an analytic semigroup of contractions, with compact resolvent. Next we prove approximate controllability for the linear system via a unique continuation argument. Since the spectrum of the operator is discrete, the number of unstable modes is of finite number, and thus we can reduce the problem to a finite-dimensional control problem where approximate controllability implies stabilizability by a finite-dimensional feedback operator satisfying a Riccati equation. This feedback operator is re-used for defining another control function that stabilizes locally the nonlinear system, via a fixed-point argument, provided that the perturbations of the steady state are sufficiently small.

One of the main reasons why we restricted our study to dimension 2 is due to theoretical difficulties that arise in dimension 3 when trying to extend diffeomorphisms. Another reason lies in the fact that the linear evolution equation above, involving the operator $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$, would be *a priori* more complex in dimension 3. All these reasons are explained in Sect. 7. Nevertheless, the methodology adopted in the present article for designing in practice the feedback operator is still valid in dimension 3. Throughout the paper we try to keep as much as possible a formalism that is not restricted to dimension 2.

The paper is organized as follows: Notation and functional spaces are defined in Sect. 2. Comments and important properties of the model are described in Sect. 2.2. A change of variable is introduced in Sect. 3.1, enabling us to rewrite in Sect. 3.2 the main system in time-independent domains. Section 4 is devoted to the study of the corresponding linearized system, where in particular in Sect. 4.1 we define operator \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} , leading in Sect. 4.2 to an operator formulation. In Sect. 5 we design a linear feedback operator that stabilizes the linear system. In Sect. 6 we deduce another feedback operator that stabilizes the nonlinear system, and thus prove the main result. Questions related with the extension to dimension 3 of the present work are posed in Sect. 7. Finally, technical proofs of intermediate results are given in the Appendix.

2. Functional Setting and Preliminaries

2.1. Function Spaces and Notation

Denote by L², H^s and W^{k,p} the standard Lebesgue/Sobolev spaces of real-valued functions, and their multi-dimensional versions for d = 2 as follows:

$$\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^{\pm}) = [\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^{\pm})]^d, \quad \mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^{\pm}) = [\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^{\pm})]^{d \times d}, \quad \mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s) = [\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)]^{d \times (d-1)}.$$

The notation $\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)$ applies when considering for example tangential gradients on Γ_s . Naturally we transpose the same type of notation for other types of spaces and domains. Recall the notation $\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_s) = \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)'$. For matrix fields A, B of $\mathbb{R}^{2\times 2}$ we recall the inner product $A: B = \operatorname{trace}(A^T B)$ and the corresponding Euclidean norm satisfies $|AB|_{\mathbb{R}^{2\times 2}} \leq |A|_{\mathbb{R}^{2\times 2}}|B|_{\mathbb{R}^{2\times 2}}$. We will denote $\operatorname{Sym}(A) = \frac{1}{2}(A + A^T)$. Denote by $\operatorname{cof}(A)$ the cofactor matrix of any matrix field A, and note that in dimension 2 the mapping $A \mapsto \operatorname{cof}(A)$ is linear. Given two vectors a and b of \mathbb{R}^2 , the tensor product $a \otimes b$ denotes the matrix of $\mathbb{R}^{2\times 2}$ defined by $(a \otimes b)_{ij} = a_i b_j$.

For $0 < T \leq \infty$, the displacements $Z = X - \text{Id of } \Gamma_s$ will be considered in the following space

$$\mathcal{Z}_{T}(\Gamma_{s}) := L^{2}(0, T; \mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_{s})/\mathbb{R}^{2}) \cap \mathrm{H}^{1}(0, T; \mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_{s})/\mathbb{R}^{2}),$$

where quotient spaces have been introduced for considering displacements Z up to a constant of \mathbb{R}^2 . This is equivalent to consider deformations $X = Z + \mathrm{Id}$ up to translations of \mathbb{R}^2 . Note that the translations of \mathbb{R}^2 are also elements of the space \mathcal{C}_{Γ_s} . For any Banach space B and subset $I \subset B$, we define $||Z||_{B/I} = \inf_{Z_I \in I} ||Z - Z_I||_B$. Subsequently, because of (1c), we will consider the velocity/pressure variables in the respective spaces

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{U}_T(\Omega_s^+) &:= \left\{ u \in \mathcal{L}^2(0,T;\mathbf{H}^2(\Omega_s^\pm)) \mid u_{\mid \partial \Omega} = 0 \right\}, \\ \mathcal{U}_T(\Omega_s^-) &:= \mathcal{L}^2(0,T;\mathbf{H}^2(\Omega_s^-)), \quad \mathcal{Q}_T(\Omega_s^\pm) := \mathcal{L}^2(0,T;\mathcal{H}^1(\Omega_s^\pm)/\mathbb{R}). \end{aligned}$$

We endow the spaces $\mathcal{U}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})$ with the classical norms, and $\mathcal{Q}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})$ with $\|p^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})} := \|\nabla p^{\pm}\|_{L^2(0,T;\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^{\pm}))}$. Note that the pressures in $\mathcal{Q}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})$ are determined up to a constant. Actually these constants are the residual static pressures p_s^{\pm} corresponding to the stationary state. We refer to Lemma 2.1 for more details. Still for $0 < T \leq \infty$, the data will be considered in the following spaces

$$\mathcal{F}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm}) := \mathcal{L}^2(0,T; \mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^{\pm})), \quad \mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s) := \mathcal{L}^2(0,T; \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)), \quad \mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s) := \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2.$$

Note that $\mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)$ is the trace space of $\mathcal{Z}_T(\Gamma_s)$, and we recall that the following continuous embedding holds:

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}_b([0,\infty); \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)).$$

The interest of this regularity framework is that we can define extensions \tilde{X} of mappings X that are continuous in time with values in $\mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm}) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}^1(\overline{\Omega_s^{\pm}})$. More specifically, extensions \tilde{X} of X will be

considered in the following space:

$$\mathcal{X}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^{\pm}) := \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0,\infty;\mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})).$$

Besides, the extensions \tilde{X} are such that $\nabla \tilde{X} \in L^{\infty}(0, \infty; \mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm}))$. The same property holds for the inverse of $\nabla \tilde{X}$ (Corollary 3.1), which is convenient for deriving Lipschitz estimates when stabilizing the nonlinear system in Sect. 6, as the space $\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})$ is an algebra (see [35, Proposition B.1, page 283]). In the same fashion, the space $\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$ is also an algebra.

Recall the Petree-Tartar lemma [27, Lemma A.38 page 469], that we will use several times.

Lemma (Petree-Tartar lemma). Let B_1 , B_2 and B_3 be Banach spaces. Let $A \in \mathcal{L}(B_1, B_2)$ be an injective operator, and let $C \in \mathcal{L}(B_1, B_3)$ be a compact operator. Assume that there exists a positive constant¹ C > 0 such that for all $\varphi \in B_1$ we have

$$\|\varphi\|_{B_1} \le C \left(\|A\varphi\|_{B_2} + \|C\varphi\|_{B_3} \right).$$

Then there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|\varphi\|_{B_1} \le C \|A\varphi\|_{B_2}$$

for all $\varphi \in B_1$.

2.2. On the Surface Tension Model and the Stationary States

The surface tension force is generated by the mean curvature vector of the surface $\Gamma(t)$. It is related to the Laplace-Beltrami operator via the following relation (see [68, p. 151, Exercise 2]):

$$\kappa n = \Delta_{\Gamma(t)} \mathrm{Id}$$

Using [1, Theorem 2.6], the following energy estimate holds, showing that the surface tension force derives from a potential energy quantified by the area of $\Gamma(t)$:

$$\mu \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\Gamma(t)| + 2\nu \left(\|\varepsilon(u^+)\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^+(t))}^2 + \|\varepsilon(u^-)\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^-(t))}^2 \right) = \langle f^+, u^+ \rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega^+(t))} + \langle f^-, u^- \rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega^-(t))} + \langle g, u^\pm \rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma(t))}.$$

This energy is dissipated with the help of the viscosity terms. From [66, page 18], the kernel of ε is reduced to the tangent space of the special Euclidean group SE(2), namely the functions of type $u^{\pm}(x) = h^{\pm} + \omega^{\pm} x^{\perp}$, where $h^{\pm} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\omega^{\pm} \in \mathbb{R}$ are constant. Using $u^+ = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$, we deduce $h^+ = 0$ and $\omega^+ = 0$, which also implies $h^- = 0$ and $\omega^- = 0$ when we have $u^+ = u^-$ on $\Gamma(t)$. Therefore, the first Korn's inequality combined with the Rellich-Kondrachov theorem and the Petree-Tartar lemma yields the following general result:

Lemma 2.0. Let Ω^{\pm} be any smooth subdomains of Ω split by a closed smooth curve $\Gamma = \partial \Omega^{-}$ such that $\Gamma \subset \mathring{\Omega}$. Then, for all $u^{\pm} \in \mathbf{H}^{1}(\Omega^{\pm})$ such that $u^{+} = 0$ on $\partial \Omega$ and $u^{+} = u^{-}$ on Γ , we have

$$\|u^+\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Omega^+)} + \|u^-\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Omega^-)} \le C\left(\|\varepsilon(u^+)\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^+)}^2 + \|\varepsilon(u^-)\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^-)}^2\right),$$

where C > 0 is independent of u^{\pm} .

Since our approach is based on the study of the linearized system that involves $\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}(X - I)$ (see Sect. 3.2), we will rather focus on the different differential operators rather than on the mean curvature. The curve Γ_s is considered as a Riemannian manifold, and due to its regularity, we claim that the trace spaces $\mathbf{H}^s(\Gamma_s)$ coincide with the definition of Sobolev spaces given on Riemannian manifolds [37, section 2.2]. For a circle $\Gamma_s \subset \mathring{\Omega}$ of given radius r we adopt the parameterization by arc length

$$X_s: [0, 2\pi r) \ni \xi \mapsto (r \cos(\xi/r), r \sin(\xi/r))^T \in \Gamma_s \subset \mathbb{R}^2.$$

Denoting τ_s the tangent vector of Γ_s , we have

$$n_s \circ X_s = (\cos(\xi/r), \sin(\xi/r))^T, \quad \tau_s \circ X_s = (\sin(\xi/r), -\cos(\xi/r))^T$$

¹Throughout the paper the notation C refers to a positive constant generically independent of the different variables.

7 Page 8 of 33

Recall the notation for the tangential gradient ∇_{Γ_s} and the tangential divergence $\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s}$. In the particular case of a circle, with the parameterization X_s chosen above, the metric tensor \mathfrak{g}_s of Γ_s is scalar-valued, equal to $|\nabla_{\xi} X_s|_{\mathbb{R}^2}^2 = 1$. Therefore, for all $\varphi \in \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$, these operators simply write

$$\begin{split} (\nabla_{\Gamma_s}\varphi) \circ X_s &= \nabla_{\xi}(\varphi \circ X_s), \\ (\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s}) \circ X_s &= (\operatorname{det}\mathfrak{g}_s)^{-1/2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi} \left((\operatorname{det}\mathfrak{g}_s)^{1/2} (\varphi \circ X_s) \right) = \nabla_{\xi}(\varphi \circ X_s) = (\nabla_{\Gamma_s}\varphi) \circ X_s. \end{split}$$

We will still use the general notation ∇_{Γ_s} and $\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s}$, for the sake of consistency with higher dimension. Recall the Frenet-Serret formulas:

$$abla_{\Gamma_s} n_s = -rac{1}{r} au_s, \quad
abla_{\Gamma_s} au_s = rac{1}{r} n_s.$$

The integrals on Γ_s have to be understood as surface integrals. We recall the Stokes formula on smooth manifolds without boundary, that we will use in this article only for the 1-sphere Γ_s . For all $\varphi, \psi \in \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)$, we have

$$\langle \Delta_{\Gamma_s} \varphi, \psi \rangle_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_s), \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)} = - \langle \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \varphi, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \psi \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}$$

where we recall the definition $\Delta_{\Gamma_s} = \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \circ \nabla_{\Gamma_s}$ of the Laplace-Beltrami operator on Γ_s . More generally, for all matrix field $\Sigma \in \mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$ and vector field $\varphi \in \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$ we have

$$\langle \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \Sigma, \varphi \rangle_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_s), \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)} = -\langle \Sigma, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \varphi \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}.$$
(2)

We define *admissible* deformations, summarizing the basic assumptions we consider for mappings X, as well as the set of admissible deformations transforming the circle Γ_s into another circle of the same radius and orientation:

Definition 2.1. We say that $X \in \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)$ is *admissible* if X is invertible, orientation-preserving and volume-preserving, that is that the volume contained by Γ_s is the same as the one contained by $X(\Gamma_s)$, and if $X(\Gamma_s) \subset \mathring{\Omega}$. Further, we define

$$\mathcal{C}_{\Gamma_s} = \left\{ X \in \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s) \mid X(\Gamma_s) \subset \mathring{\Omega} \text{ is a circle of the same radius as } \Gamma_s \right\}.$$

The relation $X(\Gamma_s) \subset \dot{\Omega}$ is the condition of *non-contact* with the outer boundary, that is $X(\Gamma_s) \cap \partial \Omega = \emptyset$.

Remark 2.1. Note that any volume-preserving deformation $X \in \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)$ that is close enough to the identity and volume-preserving is *admissible*. Relaxing the non-contact condition, remark that the space \mathcal{C}_{Γ_s} contains elements of the special Euclidean group SE(2), made of proper rigid transformations X_R , namely direct isometries, composed of translations and rotations, as $X_R : \mathbb{R}^2 \ni y \mapsto h + \mathbf{R}y \in \mathbb{R}^2$, where $h \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and \mathbf{R} is an orthogonal matrix with det $\mathbf{R} = 1$. The space \mathcal{C}_{Γ_s} also includes the group Diff⁺(Γ_s) of direct diffeomorphisms of the circle Γ_s . We claim that \mathcal{C}_{Γ_s} can be generated by composing elements of SE(2) with elements of Diff(Γ_s). Finally, we note that we can obtain the circle $X(\Gamma_s)$ globally—as geometric object—from Γ_s simply by composing the latter by a translation of SE(2). But for the sake of completeness we introduce \mathcal{C}_{Γ_s} as above for describing all the possible stationary states.

We derive a series of lemmas, that will be used several times throughout the paper. The first one characterizes the stationary states, given by system (4):

Lemma 2.1. Let be subdomains $\Omega^{\pm} \subset \Omega$ like in Lemma 2.0. If $g \in \mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma)$ is the right-hand-side of the following system

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = 0 & and \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 & in \ \Omega^{\pm}, \\ u^{+} = 0 & on \ \partial\Omega, \\ u^{\pm} = 0 & and \quad - [\sigma(u, p)] \ n = g & on \ \Gamma, \end{cases}$$
(3)

then necessarily g = cn, where c is a constant equal to the difference [p] of constant pressures. In particular, the admissible mappings X such that $X(\Gamma_s) \subset \mathring{\Omega}$ splits Ω into two subdomains denoted by $\Omega^{\pm}_{X(\Gamma_s)} = \Omega^{\pm}$,

JMFM

like in Lemma 2.0, and satisfying

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = 0 \quad and \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 \quad in \ \Omega^{\pm}_{X(\Gamma_s)}, \\ u^{+} = 0 \quad on \ \partial\Omega, \\ u^{\pm} = 0 \quad and \quad - [\sigma(u, p)] \ n = \mu \Delta_{X(\Gamma_s)} \operatorname{Id} \quad on \ X(\Gamma_s), \end{cases}$$
(4)

describe the set C_{Γ_s} . That is, $X(\Gamma_s)$ is a circle of the same radius r > 0 as Γ_s . The velocities u^{\pm} are equal to zero everywhere, and the pressures p^{\pm} are constant, equal to the static pressures p_s^{\pm} such that $[p_s]n_s = \mu \Delta_{X(\Gamma_s)} \mathrm{Id} = \kappa_s n_s$ (namely the so-called Young-Laplace equation), where $\kappa_s = -1/r < 0$ is the curvature of $X(\Gamma_s)$, implying that $p_s^- > p_s^+$.

Proof. Taking the scalar product of the first equation of (3), and integrating by parts leads to $\|\varepsilon(u^{\pm})\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^{\pm}_{X(\Gamma_s)})} = 0$, and from Lemma 2.0, to $u^{\pm} = 0$ in $\mathbf{H}^1(\Omega^{\pm})$. Then we also deduce $\nabla p^{\pm} = 0$ in the first equation, that yields that p^{\pm} are both constant, equal to the static pressures p_s^{\pm} . Thus $g = [2\nu\varepsilon(u) - p\mathbf{I}] n = -[p_s] n$, where $[p_s]$ is a constant, which completes the first part of the proof. Next, using this result for system (4) with $\Omega^{\pm} = \Omega^{\pm}_{X(\Gamma_s)}$, $\Gamma = \Gamma_{X(\Gamma_s)}$ and $g = \mu \Delta_{X(\Gamma_s)}$ Id, the constant [p] obtained previously corresponds to $[p] n = \mu \Delta_{X(\Gamma_s)}$ Id. Actually $\mu \Delta_{X(\Gamma_s)}$ Id = κn , where κ , namely the (mean) curvature of $X(\Gamma_s)$, is constant, equal to $\kappa_s = -1/r$. Therefore $X(\Gamma_s)$ is a circle, and since X is assumed to be *admissible*, this condition yields that $X(\Gamma_s)$ and Γ_s have the same radius r, and so the same mean curvature -1/r. Therefore X lies necessarily in \mathcal{C}_{Γ_s} , and conversely, which completes the proof.

The stationary states are then obtained from the reference circle Γ_s via transformations of \mathcal{C}_{Γ_s} . The deformations X of Γ_s will be then compared to an element $X_c \in \mathcal{C}_{\Gamma_s}$, and the corresponding displacements writes $X - X_c$. For the sake of simplicity we will rather consider $X - \mathrm{Id}$ in what follows, by keeping in mind that Id is to be replaced by any given $X_c \in \mathcal{C}_{\Gamma_s}$. From there, we will use the notation

$$Z = X - \mathrm{Id}$$

for the displacements, keeping in mind that ultimately we shall consider $Z = X - X_c$ with $X_c \in C_{\Gamma_s}$. Next we introduce the following differential operator

$$\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s} = (n_s \otimes n_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s}.$$

Operator $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$ appears in the linearized system (22) (see Sect. 3.2 for its derivation). Note that the matrix field $n_s \otimes n_s$ is never invertible.

2.3. The Kernel of $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$ and the Lack of Coercivity

The operator $\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$ appears in the linearization of $(\kappa n) \circ X$ (see Sect. 3.2). The description of the kernel of ∇_{Γ_s} is then central for the methodology we adopted, namely the wellposedness of the corresponding linearized system (Sect. 4), and the unique continuation argument (Sect. 5.1). Unfortunately there are non-trivial mappings $X = Z + \operatorname{Id}$ that are smooth, orientation-preserving, volume-preserving, transforming the circle into a Jordan curve, that can be chosen arbitrarily close to the identity, and such that $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s} Z = 0$. Indeed, $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s} Z = (\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \cdot n_s) n_s = 0$ implies that $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$ is tangent to Γ_s . There exists a function $\xi \mapsto \alpha(\xi)$ such that $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = \alpha \tau_s$. Decompose α with its Fourier series:

$$\alpha(\xi) = \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \left(a_{1,k} \cos(k\xi/r) + a_{2,k} \sin(k\xi/r) \right).$$

The modes k = 0 and k = 1 are not considered, as they introduce constants that are necessarily equal to 0, because of the periodicity of Z, meaning that $(\mathrm{Id} + Z)(\Gamma_s)$ is a closed curve $(Z(X_s(0)) = Z(X_s(2\pi r)))$. Integrating the equality $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = \alpha \tau_s$ leads us to

$$Z(X_s(\xi)) = \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^2 - 1} \Big(\Big(a_{1,k} \cos(k\xi/r) + a_{2,k} \sin(k\xi/r) \Big) n_s + \Big(-a_{2,k}k \cos(k\xi/r) + a_{1,k}k \sin(k\xi/r) \Big) \tau_s \Big),$$

7 Page 10 of 33 S. Court JMFM

FIG. 2. Different deformations $X(\Gamma_s)$ of the circle such that $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}(X - \mathrm{Id}) = 0$

up to a constant that corresponds to a translation. Several examples of such displacements are represented in Fig. 2 below, corresponding to $k \in \{2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7\}$ and coefficients $a_k, b_k \in \{0, 1\}$.

In order to define a linear operator whose the kernel is reduced to a trivial set, we need to regularize the operator $\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$.

2.4. Regularization

Instead of considering $\mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$ alone, we add a regularizing term, namely

 $\mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{\tau_s} = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \circ ((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s}),$

so that the linear system studied in Sect. 4 involves the following operator

$$Z \mapsto -\mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s} Z - \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{\tau_s} Z = -\mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = -\mu \Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z.$$

For the Laplace-Beltrami operator $-\Delta_{\Gamma_s}$ we recall a rigidity result combined with Gårding-type inequalities.

Proposition 2.1. Assume that $Z \in \mathbf{H}^{\ell}(\Gamma_s)$ with $\ell \geq 1$ satisfies $\Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z = 0$. Then Z is a constant of \mathbb{R}^2 . Moreover, the following estimates hold:

$$||Z||_{\mathbf{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})/\mathbb{R}^{2}} \leq C ||\nabla_{\Gamma_{s}}Z||_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Gamma_{s})} \text{ for all } Z \in \mathbf{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s}),$$

$$(5)$$

$$\|Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2} \le C \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_s)} \quad \text{for all } Z \in \mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_s), \tag{6}$$

$$||Z||_{\mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2} \le C ||\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z||_{\mathbb{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)} \text{ for all } Z \in \mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_s).$$

$$\tag{7}$$

Furthermore, if $Z \in \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)$, the following estimate holds:

$$\|Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^{2}(\Gamma_{s})/\mathbb{R}^{2}} \leq C \|\Delta_{\Gamma_{s}}Z\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Gamma_{s})}.$$
(8)

Proof. See for example [37, section 2.8]. Estimate (5) is deduced from the Poincaré inequality combined with the Petree-Tartar lemma. The same inequality applies to high-order derivatives of Z, and consequently estimates (6)–(7) are deduced by interpolation. Finally, estimate (8) is classically obtained by using Fourier series on the circle.

We deduce a unique continuation result that is used for proving Proposition 5.1.

Lemma 2.2. The mappings $X \in \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$ satisfying the following system

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = 0 \quad and \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 \quad in \ \Omega_s^{\pm}, \\ u^{\pm} = 0 \quad on \ \partial\Omega, \\ u^{\pm} = 0 \quad and \quad - [\sigma(u, p)] n = \mu \Delta_{\Gamma_s}(X - \operatorname{Id}) \quad on \ \Gamma_s, \end{cases}$$
(9)

are translations of \mathbb{R}^2 .

Proof. By using Lemma 2.1 with $\Omega^{\pm} = \Omega_s^{\pm}$, $\Gamma = \Gamma_s$ and $g = \mu \Delta_{\Gamma_s}(X - \mathrm{Id})$, we deduce $\Delta_{\Gamma_s}(X - \mathrm{Id}) = cn_s$, where c is a constant equal to the difference of constant pressures. Recall that the static pressures introduced in Lemma 2.1 satisfy $\mu \Delta_{\Gamma_s} \mathrm{Id} = [p_s]n_s$. Therefore we can assume that the constant pressures mentioned above are such that c = 0, and so $\Delta_{\Gamma_s}(X - \mathrm{Id}) = 0$. Since Γ_s is a compact manifold, it follows that $X - \mathrm{Id}$ is a constant, and X is a translation.

Remark 2.2. In the proof of Lemma 2.2, another argument for deducing c = 0 would have consisted in restricting the deformation X to volume-preserving deformations. Since $n_s = -r\Delta_{\Gamma_s}$ Id, we would have deduced $\Delta_{\Gamma_s}(X - \text{Id} + cr\text{Id}) = 0$, implying that X + (cr - 1)Id is a constant. Assuming that X is volumepreserving then leads to c = 0. This also amounts saying that the difference of static pressures remains the same after deformation by X.

The third lemma is an energy estimate that holds for an unsteady linear system:

Lemma 2.3. Let be T > 0 and $\lambda > 0$. Assume that Z satisfies

$$\begin{cases}
-\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = 0 & and \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 & in \ \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, T), \\
u^{+} = 0 & on \ \partial\Omega \times (0, T), \\
u^{\pm} = \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z & and & - [\sigma(u, p)] \ n = \mu \Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z + g & on \ \Gamma_s \times (0, T), \\
Z(\cdot, 0) = Z_0 & on \ \Gamma_s.
\end{cases}$$
(10)

Then the following identity holds almost everywhere in (0,T):

$$\frac{\mu}{2}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s}Z\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} + 2\nu\left(\|\varepsilon(u^+)\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^+)} + \|\varepsilon(u^-)\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)}\right) = \lambda\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s}Z\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} + \langle g; u^\pm \rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}.$$
 (11)

In particular, if g = 0 and $Z_0 = 0$ in $\mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$, then $Z \equiv 0$ up to a constant of \mathbb{R}^2 .

Proof. Taking the scalar product of the first equation of (10) by u^{\pm} , and integrating by parts yields

$$2\nu\left(\|\varepsilon(u^+)\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^+)} + \|\varepsilon(u^-)\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)}\right) = \mu\left\langle\frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z, \Delta_{\Gamma_s}Z\right\rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} + \left\langle g, u^{\pm}\right\rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}$$

The Stokes formula (2) shows that $\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s}^* = -\nabla_{\Gamma_s}$, so we deduce

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z, \mu \Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z \right\rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} &= - \left\langle \frac{\partial \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z}{\partial t} - \lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z, \mu \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \right\rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} \\ &= - \frac{\mu}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \| \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}^2 + \lambda \| \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}^2, \end{split}$$

and thus (11) follows. By integrating in time this identity, with g = 0, we obtain $\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{L^2(\Gamma_s)}^2 \leq \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_0\|_{L^2(\Gamma_s)}^2 = 0$, which yields $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = 0$, and Proposition 2.1 enables us to complete the proof. \Box

Note that the energy estimate (11) is also valid for any geometric configuration satisfying the noncontact condition, but we will use it only for Γ_s .

3. Extension of Diffeomorphisms and Change of Variables

In order to rewrite (1) in time-independent domains, we need to define in the whole domain Ω a change of variable that coincides with X on Γ_s . Therefore the question of the extension of X in Ω_s^{\pm} arises.

3.1. Extension of Diffeomorphisms

Let us define an extension of X which inherits its regularity properties. We state the following result:

Proposition 3.1. Let be $X - \text{Id} \in \mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)$ such that for all $t \ge 0$ the mapping $X(\cdot, t)$ is a diffeomorphism from Γ_s onto $\Gamma(t)$. There exists a mapping \tilde{X} defined in $\Omega \times (0, \infty)$ such that for all $t \ge 0$ we have $\tilde{X}(\cdot, t)_{|\Omega_s^{\pm}} \in \mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})$, $\tilde{X}_{|\partial\Omega} = \text{Id}$, $\tilde{X}_{|\Gamma_s} = X$, $\tilde{X}(\cdot, t)_{|\Omega_s^{\pm}}$ is a diffeomorphism from Ω_s^{-} onto $\Omega^{-}(t)$, and that satisfies

$$\|\tilde{X} - \mathrm{Id}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} \le C \|X - \mathrm{Id}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})},\tag{12}$$

where the constant C > 0 is independent of X. Furthermore, given $X_1 - \text{Id}, X_2 - \text{Id} \in \mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)$, the respective extensions \tilde{X}_1 and \tilde{X}_2 so obtained satisfy

$$\|\tilde{X}_1 - \tilde{X}_2\|_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^{\pm})} \le C \|X_1 - X_2\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)}.$$
(13)

The $\mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})$ regularity implies in particular that for every $t \geq 0$ the mapping $\tilde{X}(\cdot, t)_{|\Omega_s^{\pm}}$ is of class \mathcal{C}^1 on $\overline{\Omega_s^{\pm}}$. The proof of Proposition 3.1 combines different results that are not related to the main result of the paper. Therefore it is given in Appendix A.1. Note that the domains $\Omega^{\pm}(t)$ defined as the two connected components of $\Omega \setminus \Gamma(t)$ are also described as $\Omega^{\pm}(t) = \tilde{X}(\Omega_s^{\pm}, t)$, due to conexity. By choosing X – Id small enough, we can define a local inverse for $\tilde{X}_{|\Omega_s^{\pm}}(\cdot, t)$. We deduce regularity for the inverse of the Jacobian matrix of $\tilde{X}(\cdot, t)_{|\Omega_s^{\pm}}$.

Corollary 3.1. Given the assumptions of Proposition 3.1, the inverse $\tilde{Y}(\cdot,t)$ of mapping $\tilde{X}(\cdot,t)|_{\Omega_s^{\pm}}$, so that

$$\tilde{X}(\tilde{Y}(x,t),t) = x, \text{ for } x \in \Omega^{\pm}(t), t \in (0,\infty), \qquad \tilde{Y}(\tilde{X}(y,t),t) = y \text{ for } (y,t) \in \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0,\infty),$$

satisfies the following estimate, provided that $||X - Id||_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)}$ is small enough:

$$\|\nabla \tilde{Y}(\tilde{X}) - \mathbf{I}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0,\infty;\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm}))} \leq C \|X - \mathrm{Id}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}.$$
(14)

Denoting by \tilde{Y}_1 and \tilde{Y}_2 the respective inverses of \tilde{X}_1 and \tilde{X}_2 , extensions of X_1 and X_2 respectively, we have

$$\|\nabla \tilde{Y}_{1}(\tilde{X}_{1}) - \nabla \tilde{Y}_{2}(\tilde{X}_{2})\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0,\infty;\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm}))} \leq C \|X_{1} - X_{2}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})},\tag{15}$$

provided that $||X_1 - \mathrm{Id}||_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)}$ and $||X_2 - \mathrm{Id}||_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)}$ are small enough.

Proof. Even if $\tilde{X}_{|\Omega_s^{\pm}}(\cdot, t)$ is not globally invertible, we still use the notation $\nabla \tilde{Y}(\tilde{X})$ for the inverse of $\nabla \tilde{X}$, for the sake of simplicity. Recall that $\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})$ is an algebra. The identity $\nabla \tilde{Y}(\tilde{X}) - \mathbf{I} = (\mathbf{I} - \nabla \tilde{X})(\nabla \tilde{Y}(\tilde{X}) - \mathbf{I}) + (\mathbf{I} - \nabla \tilde{X})$ yields

$$\|\nabla \tilde{Y}(\tilde{X}) - \mathbf{I}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0,\infty;\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm}))} \leq \frac{\|\nabla \tilde{X} - \mathbf{I}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0,\infty;\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm}))}}{1 - C\|\nabla \tilde{X} - \mathbf{I}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0,\infty;\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm}))}}$$

which, combined with (12), implies (14). Further, the identity

$$\nabla \tilde{Y}_1(\tilde{X}_1) - \nabla \tilde{Y}_2(\tilde{X}_2) = \left(\nabla \tilde{Y}_1(\tilde{X}_1) - \nabla \tilde{Y}_2(\tilde{X}_2)\right) (\mathbf{I} - \nabla \tilde{X}_1) - (\nabla \tilde{Y}_2(\tilde{X}_2) - \mathbf{I}) (\nabla \tilde{X}_1 - \nabla \tilde{X}_2) - (\nabla \tilde{X}_1 - \nabla \tilde{X}_2)$$

enables us to derive (15) similarly, by using (12) for controlling $(I - \nabla \tilde{X}_1)$, (14) for controlling $(\nabla \tilde{Y}_2(\tilde{X}_2) - I)$, and (13) for controlling $(\nabla \tilde{X}_1 - \nabla \tilde{X}_2)$, completing the proof.

Remark 3.1. In case we would consider stabilizing X around some $X_c \in C_{\Gamma_s}$, instead of Id, we would need to define an extension $\tilde{X}_c \in \mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})$ of $X_c \in \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)$. Such an extension is provided by Proposition A.1 in Appendix A.1, and the Lipschitz estimates (12) and (14) would then be

$$\|\tilde{X} - \tilde{X}_c\|_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^{\pm})} \le C \|X - X_c\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)}, \ \|\nabla \tilde{Y}(\tilde{X}) - (\nabla \tilde{X}_c)^{-1}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\infty}(0,\infty;\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm}))} \le C \|X - X_c\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)},$$

respectively.

We now have the tools for rewriting system (1) in cylindrical domains. The Lipschitz estimates of Proposition 3.1 and Corollary 3.1 are used in Sect. 6.

3.2. Change of Variables and System Transformation

We introduce the change of variables

$$\begin{split} \tilde{u}^{\pm}(y,t) &:= u^{\pm}(\tilde{X}(y,t),t), \, \tilde{p}^{\pm}(y,t) := p^{\pm}(\tilde{X}(y,t),t), \quad (y,t) \in \Omega_{s}^{\pm} \times (0,\infty), \\ u^{\pm}(x,t) &= \tilde{u}^{\pm}(\tilde{Y}(x,t),t), \ p^{\pm}(x,t) = \tilde{p}^{\pm}(\tilde{Y}(x,t),t), \quad (x,t) \in \bigcup_{\substack{t \in (0,\infty) \\ t \in (0,\infty)}} \Omega^{\pm}(t) \times \{t\}, \\ \tilde{f}^{\pm}(y,t) &:= (\det \nabla \tilde{X}(y,t)) f^{\pm}(\tilde{X}(y,t),t), \quad (y,t) \in \Omega_{s}^{\pm} \times (0,\infty) \\ \tilde{g}(y,t) &:= |\operatorname{cof}(\nabla \tilde{X}(y,t)) n_{s}| \, g(X(y,t),t), \quad (y,t) \in \Gamma_{s} \times (0,\infty) \end{split}$$

Implicitly, on Γ_s , $\nabla \tilde{X}$ refers to $\nabla \tilde{X}^-$. Composing system (1) by \tilde{X} and using the Piola's identity, we obtain

$$-\operatorname{div}\left(\left(\sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) \circ \tilde{X}\right) \operatorname{cof}(\nabla \tilde{X})\right) = \tilde{f}^{\pm} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div}\left(\operatorname{cof}(\nabla \tilde{X})^{T} \tilde{u}\right) = 0 \quad \text{in} \ \Omega_{s}^{\pm} \times (0, \infty), \\ \tilde{u}^{\pm} = 0 \quad \text{on} \ \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty), \\ \tilde{u}^{\pm} = \frac{\partial X}{\partial t} \quad \text{and} \quad -\left[\left(\sigma(u, p) \circ X\right)\right] \operatorname{cof} \nabla \tilde{X} n_{s} = \mu |\operatorname{cof} \nabla \tilde{X} n_{s}| (\Delta_{\Gamma(t)} \operatorname{Id}) \circ X + \tilde{g} \quad \text{on} \ \Gamma_{s} \times (0, \infty), \\ X(\cdot, 0) = X_{0} \quad \text{on} \ \Gamma_{s}, \end{cases}$$
(16)

where

$$\sigma(u,p) \circ \tilde{X} = \nu \operatorname{Sym}(\nabla \tilde{u} \nabla \tilde{Y}(\tilde{X})) - \tilde{p} \operatorname{I} =: \tilde{\sigma}(\tilde{u},\tilde{p}),$$

and where we used $n \circ X = \operatorname{cof} \nabla \tilde{X} n_s / |\operatorname{cof} \nabla \tilde{X} n_s|$. Let us develop $(\Delta_{\Gamma(t)} \operatorname{Id}) \circ X$. The parameterization X_s : $[0, 2\pi r) \ni \xi \mapsto X_s(\xi) \in \Gamma_s$ of Γ_s introduced in Sect. 2.2 enables us to define $X \circ X_s$ as a parameterization of $\Gamma(t)$. We denote by $\mathfrak{g}_s, \mathfrak{g}(t)$ the metric tensors of Γ_s and $\Gamma(t)$, respectively. We have, in local coordinates, and using the Einstein notation²:

$$(\Delta_{\Gamma(t)}\mathrm{Id})_i \circ X \circ X_s = (\det \mathfrak{g}(t))^{-1/2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j} \left((\det \mathfrak{g}(t))^{1/2} \frac{\partial (X \circ X_s)_i}{\partial \xi_k} (\mathfrak{g}(t)^{-1})_{kj} \right).$$
(17)

Volume forms considerations yield

(

$$(\det \mathfrak{g}(t))^{1/2} = |\mathrm{cof} \nabla \tilde{X} n_s| (\det \mathfrak{g}_s)^{1/2}$$

(see for instance [7, Lemma 6.23, p. 135]), and when X - Id is small, we write

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{g}(t) &= \nabla_{\xi} (X \circ X_{s})^{T} \nabla_{\xi} (X \circ X_{s}) = \mathfrak{g}_{s} + \nabla_{\xi} (X \circ X_{s})^{T} \nabla_{\xi} (X \circ X_{s}) - \nabla_{\xi} X_{s}^{T} \nabla_{\xi} X_{s} \\ &= \mathfrak{g}_{s} + 2 \operatorname{Sym} \left(\nabla_{\xi} X_{s}^{T} \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \operatorname{Id}) \circ X_{s}) \right) + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - I\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})}^{2}), \\ \mathfrak{g}(t)^{-1} &= \mathfrak{g}_{s}^{-1} - 2 \, \mathfrak{g}_{s}^{-1} \operatorname{Sym} \left(\nabla_{\xi} X_{s}^{T} \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \operatorname{Id}) \circ X_{s}) \right) \mathfrak{g}_{s}^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - I\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})}^{2}) \\ &= \mathfrak{g}_{s}^{-1} - 2 \, \mathfrak{g}_{s}^{-1} \left(\nabla_{\xi} X_{s}^{T} \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \operatorname{Id}) \circ X_{s}) \right) \mathfrak{g}_{s}^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - I\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})}^{2}) \\ & \det \mathfrak{g}(t) = \det \mathfrak{g}_{s} + 2 \operatorname{cof} \mathfrak{g}_{s} : \operatorname{Sym} \left(\nabla_{\xi} X_{s}^{T} \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \operatorname{Id}) \circ X_{s}) \right) + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - I\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})}^{2}) \\ &= (\det \mathfrak{g}_{s}) \left(1 + 2 \, \mathfrak{g}_{s}^{-1} : \left(\nabla_{\xi} X_{s}^{T} \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \operatorname{Id}) \circ X_{s}) \right) \right) + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - I\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})}^{2}), \\ \det \mathfrak{g}(t))^{1/2} &= (\det \mathfrak{g}_{s})^{1/2} \left(1 + \mathfrak{g}_{s}^{-1} : \left(\nabla_{\xi} X_{s}^{T} \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \operatorname{Id}) \circ X_{s}) \right) \right) + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - I\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})}^{2}), \\ \frac{\partial(X \circ X_{s})_{i}}{\partial \xi_{k}} &= (\nabla_{\xi} X_{s})_{ik} + \frac{\partial((X - \operatorname{Id}) \circ X_{s})_{i}}{\partial \xi_{k}}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the symmetry of \mathfrak{g}_s and $\mathfrak{g}(t)$, and where the Landau's notation \mathcal{O} applies when $\nabla \tilde{X} - I$ is small in the algebra $\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$. Further, let us make some simplifications provided by dimension 2, using the parameterization by arc length given in Sect. 2.2: The metric tensor \mathfrak{g}_s is scalar valued, equal to $|\nabla_{\xi} X_s|^2 = 1$, and the tangent space of Γ_s is made of the tangent vectors τ_s such that $\tau_s \circ X_s =$

²Even if in our case $\mathfrak{g}(t)$ is scalar-valued, we still keep the matrix formulation for generalizability to higher dimension.

 $-\nabla_{\xi}X_s/|\nabla_{\xi}X_s| = -\nabla_{\xi}X_s$. We then have

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{g}(t)^{-1} &= \mathfrak{g}_s^{-1} - 2 \frac{\langle \nabla_{\xi} X_s, \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \mathrm{Id}) \circ X_s) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2}}{|\nabla_{\xi} X_s|^2} + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - \mathrm{I}\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)}^2)) \\ &= \mathfrak{g}_s^{-1} + 2 \langle \tau_s \circ X_s, \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \mathrm{Id}) \circ X_s) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - \mathrm{I}\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)}^2)), \\ (\det \mathfrak{g}(t))^{1/2} &= (\det \mathfrak{g}_s)^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{\langle \nabla_{\xi} X_s, \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \mathrm{Id}) \circ X_s) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2}}{|\nabla_{\xi} X_s|^2} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - \mathrm{I}\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)}^2)) \\ &= (\det \mathfrak{g}_s)^{1/2} \left(1 - \langle \tau_s \circ X_s, \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \mathrm{Id}) \circ X_s) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^2} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - \mathrm{I}\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)}^2)), \\ \frac{\partial (X \circ X_s)_i}{\partial \xi_k} &= -(\tau_s \circ X_s)_i + \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \mathrm{Id}) \circ X_s)_i. \end{split}$$

Linearizing (17), we deduce

$$\begin{split} (\Delta_{\Gamma(t)}\mathrm{Id}) \circ (X \circ X_s) &= |\mathrm{cof}\nabla \tilde{X}n_s|^{-1} \big(\Delta_{\Gamma_s}\mathrm{Id} + \mathrm{div}_{\Gamma_s}(\nabla_{\Gamma_s}(X - \mathrm{Id}))\big) \circ X_s \\ &- |\mathrm{cof}\nabla \tilde{X}n_s|^{-1} (\mathrm{det}\mathfrak{g}_s)^{-1/2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi} \left((\mathrm{det}\mathfrak{g}_s)^{1/2} \big((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \circ X_s \big) \nabla_{\xi} ((X - \mathrm{Id}) \circ X_s) \big) \right) \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - \mathrm{I}\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)}^2) \\ &= |\mathrm{cof}\nabla \tilde{X}n_s|^{-1} \Big(\Delta_{\Gamma_s}\mathrm{Id} + \mathrm{div}_{\Gamma_s}(\nabla_{\Gamma_s}(X - \mathrm{Id})) - \mathrm{div}_{\Gamma_s}((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s}(X - \mathrm{Id})) \Big) \circ X_s \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - \mathrm{I}\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)}^2), \\ (\Delta_{\Gamma(t)}\mathrm{Id}) \circ X &= |\mathrm{cof}\nabla \tilde{X}n_s|^{-1} \big(\Delta_{\Gamma_s}\mathrm{Id} + \mathrm{div}_{\Gamma_s}((n_s \otimes n_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s}(X - \mathrm{Id})) \big) + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla \tilde{X} - \mathrm{Id}\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)}^2), \end{split}$$

as $n_s \otimes n_s = I - \tau_s \otimes \tau_s$ is the projection operator on n_s . Thus, recalling the notation $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s} = (n_s \otimes n_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s}$, the fourth equation of (16) writes

$$-\left[\tilde{\sigma}(\tilde{u},\tilde{p})\right]\operatorname{cof}\nabla\tilde{X}n_{s} = \mu\Delta_{\Gamma_{s}}\operatorname{Id} + \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_{s}}\nabla_{\Gamma_{s}}^{n_{s}}(X - \operatorname{Id}) + \tilde{g} + \mathcal{O}(\|\nabla\tilde{X} - I\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})}^{2}) \quad \text{on } \Gamma_{s} \times (0,\infty).$$

The interest of (16) lies in the fact that the space domains domains Ω_s^{\pm} are time-independent. The price to pay is the nonlinear operators with respect to X that appear above. Recall that $\Delta_{\Gamma_s} \text{Id} = [p_s]n_s$, where p_s^{\pm} are the constant static pressures introduced in Lemma 2.1. Further, we introduce the following unknowns:

$$\hat{u}^{\pm} = e^{\lambda t} \tilde{u}^{\pm}, \quad \hat{p}^{\pm} = e^{\lambda t} (\tilde{p}^{\pm} - p_s^{\pm}), \quad \hat{f}^{\pm} = e^{\lambda t} \tilde{f} \text{ in } \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, \infty),$$
$$\hat{Z}(\cdot, t) = e^{\lambda t} (X(\cdot, t) - \mathrm{Id}), \quad \hat{g} = e^{\lambda t} \tilde{g} \text{ on } \Gamma_s \times (0, \infty).$$
(18)

The idea here is to find a control \hat{g} that will make the variables $(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{p}^{\pm}, \hat{Z})$ bounded, so that the original unknwon will decrease exponentially with λ as decay rate. The system satisfied by $(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{p}^{\pm}, \hat{X})$ is the following:

$$-\operatorname{div}(\sigma(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{p}^{\pm}) = \hat{f}^{\pm} + F(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{p}^{\pm}, \hat{Z}) \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} \hat{u} = \operatorname{div} H(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{Z}) \quad \operatorname{in} \Omega_{s}^{\pm} \times (0, \infty),$$
$$\hat{u}^{+} = 0 \quad \operatorname{on} \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty),$$
$$\hat{u}^{\pm} = \frac{\partial \hat{Z}}{\partial t} - \lambda \hat{Z}, \quad \operatorname{and} \quad -\left[\sigma(\hat{u}, \hat{p})\right] n_{s} = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_{s}} \nabla_{\Gamma_{s}}^{n_{s}} \hat{Z} + \hat{g} + G(\hat{u}^{+}, \hat{p}^{+}, \hat{u}^{-}, \hat{p}^{-}, \hat{Z}) \quad \operatorname{on} \Gamma_{s} \times (0, \infty),$$
$$\hat{Z}(\cdot, 0) = X_{0} - \operatorname{Id} \quad \operatorname{on} \Gamma_{s},$$
(19)

where we have introduced

$$F(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{p}^{\pm}, \hat{Z}) = \operatorname{div}\left(\tilde{\sigma}(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{p}^{\pm})(\operatorname{cof}\nabla\tilde{X} - \mathrm{I})\right) + 2\nu \operatorname{div}\left(\operatorname{Sym}\left(\nabla\hat{u}(\tilde{Y}(\tilde{X}) - \mathrm{I})\right)\right), \quad (20a)$$

$$G(\hat{u}^{+}, \hat{p}^{+}, \hat{u}^{-}, \hat{p}^{-}, \hat{Z}) = [\tilde{\sigma}(\hat{u}, \hat{p})]\left(\operatorname{cof}\nabla\tilde{X} - \mathrm{I}\right)n_{s} + 2\nu\left[\operatorname{Sym}\left(\nabla\hat{u}(\tilde{Y}(\tilde{X}) - \mathrm{I})\right)\right]n_{s}$$

$$+ \|\nabla\tilde{X}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})}\mathcal{O}(\|\nabla\tilde{X} - I\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})}), \quad (20b)$$

$$H(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{Z}) = (\mathrm{I} - \operatorname{cof}\nabla\tilde{X})^{T}\hat{u}^{\pm}. \quad (20c)$$

In Sect. 6 we deduce regularity for the functions F, G and H. Note that the condition $\hat{u}^+_{|\partial\Omega} = 0$ on the outer boundary implies that $H(\hat{u}^+, Z)_{|\partial\Omega} = 0$, and so we will consider in particular $H(\hat{u}^+, Z) \in \mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^+)$.

In system (19), the linear part is on the left-hand-side, and the nonlinear part is represented by the right-hand-sides F, G and H. Considering small data, the displacements X – Id remain small, and the nonlinearities F, G and H too (see Sect. 6). Therefore we first study the stabilizability of the linearized system.

4. On the Linearized System

From (19) we deduce the linearized system with (u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) and Z as unknowns:

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, \infty),$$
$$u^{+} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty),$$
$$u^{+} = u^{-} = \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z \quad \text{and} \quad -\left[\sigma(u, p)\right] n_s = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s} Z + G \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s \times (0, \infty),$$
$$Z(\cdot, 0) = Z_0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s. \tag{21}$$

As explained in Sect. 2.3, the operator $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$ is non-coercive, and we define a first feedback operator $Z \mapsto \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \left((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \right) = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{\tau_s} Z = G$, such that the resulting elliptic operator in (21) becomes

$$Z \mapsto \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s} Z + \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{\tau_s} Z = \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = \Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z.$$

Given $T \in (0, \infty)$, this section is devoted to wellposedness and operator formulation for the following linear system:

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 \quad \text{in} \ \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, T),$$
(22a)

$$u^+ = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T),$$
 (22b)

$$u^{+} = u^{-} = \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z$$
 and $- [\sigma(u, p)] n_s = \mu \Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z + G$ on $\Gamma_s \times (0, T)$, (22c)

$$Z(\cdot, 0) = Z_0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s. \tag{22d}$$

The data are assumed to satisfy $G \in \mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s) = L^2(0,T; \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)), Z_0 \in \mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s) = \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2$. Our approach consists in writing (22) as an abstract evolution equation with Z as the only unknown. The other unknowns (u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) can be then deduced as solutions of standard Stokes problems with the Dirichlet boundary condition of (22c).

4.1. A Poincaré-Steklov Operator

For $G \in \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)$ given, in this subsection we are interested in the following linear transmission problem:

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega_s^{\pm}, \tag{23a}$$

$$u^+ = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega, \tag{23b}$$

$$[u] = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad -\left[\sigma(u, p)\right] n_s = G \text{ on } \Gamma_s.$$
(23c)

Following the approach of [15], the equality of velocities in (23c) leads us to introduce a boundary velocity $\phi \in \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)$, and we obtain a weak solution of (23) as a critical point of the following Lagrangian functional:

$$\mathcal{L}(u^{+}, p^{+}, u^{-}, p^{-}, \lambda^{+}, \lambda^{-}, \phi) = 2\nu \|\varepsilon(u^{+})\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})}^{2} + 2\nu \|\varepsilon(u^{-})\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})}^{2} \\ - \langle p^{+}, \operatorname{div} u^{+} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} - \langle p^{-}, \operatorname{div} u^{-} \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} \\ - \langle \lambda^{+}, u^{+} - \phi \rangle_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{s}):\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_{s})} - \langle \lambda^{-}, u^{-} - \phi \rangle_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{s}):\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_{s})} \\ - \langle G, \phi \rangle_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{s}):\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_{s})}.$$

7 Page 16 of 33

Note that the variable ϕ also plays the role of a multiplier for the transmission condition (23c). Let us introduce

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{V}^+ &= \left\{ v \in \mathbf{H}^1(\Omega_s^+) \mid v_{\mid \partial \Omega} = 0 \right\}, \quad \mathbf{V}^- = \mathbf{H}^1(\Omega_s^-) / \mathbb{R}^2, \quad Q^\pm = \mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^\pm) / \mathbb{R}, \\ \mathbf{W} &= \left\{ v \in \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s) \mid \langle v, n \rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} = 0 \right\}. \end{split}$$

Relying on the Korn's inequality and the Petree-Tartar lemma, we equip \mathbf{V}^{\pm} with the norms $||v||_{\mathbf{V}^{\pm}} := ||\varepsilon(v)||_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega^{\pm}_{\pi})}$. For the sake of brevity we denote

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{u} &= (u^+, p^+, u^-, p^-, \lambda^+, \lambda^-, \phi), \quad \mathfrak{v} = (v^+, q^+, v^-, q^-, \mu^+, \mu^-, \varphi), \\ \mathfrak{V} &= \mathbf{V}^+ \times Q^+ \times \mathbf{V}^- \times Q^- \times \mathbf{W}' \times \mathbf{W}' \times \mathbf{W}. \end{split}$$

A weak solution of (23) satisfies the variational formulation given by the first order optimality condition for functional \mathcal{L} :

Find
$$\mathbf{u} \in \mathfrak{V}$$
, such that for all $\mathbf{v} \in \mathfrak{V}$:

$$\begin{cases} \langle \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}), \varepsilon(v^{\pm}) \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} - \langle \lambda^{\pm}, v^{\pm} \rangle_{\mathbf{W}'; \mathbf{W}} = 0, \quad -\langle q^{\pm}, \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} = 0, \\ -\langle \mu^{\pm}, u^{\pm} - \Phi \rangle_{\mathbf{W}'; \mathbf{W}} = 0, \quad \langle \lambda^{+} + \lambda^{-} - G, \varphi \rangle_{\mathbf{W}'; \mathbf{W}} = 0. \end{cases}$$
(24)

By integration by parts, we easily see that at the optimality we have $\lambda^{\pm} = \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm})n^{\pm}$. We rewrite the variational problem (24) more compactly, as follows:

Find
$$\mathbf{u} \in \mathfrak{V}$$
 such that $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{u}; \mathbf{v}) = \mathcal{G}(\mathbf{v}) \quad \forall \mathbf{v} \in \mathfrak{V},$
where $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{u}; \mathbf{v}) := 2\nu \langle \varepsilon(u^+), \varepsilon(v^+) \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^+)} + 2\nu \langle \varepsilon(u^-) : \varepsilon(v^-) \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)} - \langle p^-, \operatorname{div} v^- \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)} - \langle p^-, \operatorname{div} v^- \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)} - \langle q^-, \operatorname{div} u^- \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)} - \langle \lambda^+, v^+ - \varphi \rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}} - \langle \mu^+, u^+ - \Phi \rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}} - \langle \lambda^-, v^- - \varphi \rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}} - \langle \mu^-, u^- - \Phi \rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}}$
 $\mathcal{G}(\mathbf{v}) := \langle G, \varphi \rangle_{\mathbf{W}':\mathbf{W}}.$

The existence and uniqueness of a solution for (24) is equivalent to the Ladyzhenskaya-Babuška-Brezzi inf-sup condition. In that sense we state the following result:

Proposition 4.1. There exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\inf_{\mathfrak{u}\in\mathfrak{V}\setminus\{0\}}\sup_{\mathfrak{v}\in\mathfrak{V}\setminus\{0\}}\frac{\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u};\mathfrak{v})}{\|\mathfrak{u}\|_{\mathfrak{V}}\|\mathfrak{v}\|_{\mathfrak{V}}}\geq C.$$

The proof of this proposition is given in Appendix A.2. The consequence of this result is the existence and uniqueness of a weak solution for system (23).

Corollary 4.1. Assume that $G \in \mathbf{W}$. System (23) admits a unique solution (u^+, p^+, u^-, p^-) in $\mathbf{V}^+ \times Q^+ \times \mathbf{V}^- \times Q^-$. Moreover, there exists a constant C > 0, depending only on Ω_s^+ and Ω_s^- , such that

$$\|u^{+}\|_{\mathbf{H}^{1}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|p^{+}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})/\mathbb{R}} + \|u^{-}\|_{\mathbf{H}^{1}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} + \|p^{-}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})/\mathbb{R}} \le C\|G\|_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_{s})}$$

The proof of Corollary 4.1 is also given in Appendix A.2. Thus, considering the trace on Γ_s of the solution u^{\pm} of system (23), we have defined the operator

$$\mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} : \mathbf{W}' \to \mathbf{W} \\ G \mapsto u_{|\Gamma_s|}^{\pm}$$
(25)

mapping the jump condition in the right side of (23c) to the velocity trace on Γ_s . From Proposition 4.1 and Corollary 4.1, we can deduce more regularity for system (23), and consequently for operator \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} restricted to $\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)$.

Proposition 4.2. Assume that $\partial\Omega$ is of class C^1 , and that $G \in \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)$. Then system (23) admits a unique solution (u^+, p^+, u^-, p^-) in $\mathbf{H}^2(\Omega_s^+) \times \mathbf{H}^1(\Omega_s^+) \times \mathbf{H}^2(\Omega_s^-) \times \mathbf{H}^1(\Omega_s^-)$, and it satisfies the estimate

$$\|u^+\|_{\mathbf{H}^2(\Omega_s^+)} + \|p^+\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Omega_s^+)/\mathbb{R}} + \|u^-\|_{\mathbf{H}^2(\Omega^-)} + \|p^-\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Omega_s^-)/\mathbb{R}} \le C\|G\|_{\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)},$$

where the constant C > 0 depends only Ω_s^+ and Ω_s^- .

Proof. The proof of the regularity theorem of [36, Theorem 9.19, p. 278], can be repeated in our context, and the regularity of u^{\pm} in $\mathbf{H}^2(\Omega_s^{\pm})$ follows, as well as those of p^{\pm} in $\mathbf{H}^1(\Omega_s^{\pm})/\mathbb{R}$.

Therefore \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} maps $\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)$ onto $\mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_s)$. Finally, we state the following properties for the Neumann-to-Dirichlet operator \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} :

Proposition 4.3. Operator \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} is self-adjoint and non-negative, and $\operatorname{Ker}(\mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}) = \operatorname{span}(n_s)$.

Proof. Let be $G_1, G_2 \in \mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_s)$, and denote by (u_1^{\pm}, p_1^{\pm}) and (u_2^{\pm}, p_2^{\pm}) the solutions of system (23) corresponding to G_1 and G_2 respectively. By integration by parts, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \langle G_2, \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} G_1 \rangle_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_s); \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)} &= \langle -\left[\sigma(u_2, p_2)\right] n_s, u_1^{\pm} \rangle_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_s); \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)} \\ &= \langle \sigma(u_2^+, p_2^+) n_s^+ + \sigma(u_2^-, p_2^-) n_s^-, u_1^{\pm} \rangle_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_s); \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)} \\ &= 2\nu \left(\langle \varepsilon(u_1^+), \varepsilon(u_2^+) \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^+)} + \langle \varepsilon(u_1^-), \varepsilon(u_2^-) \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)} \right). \end{aligned}$$

This symmetric form shows that \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} is self-adjoint. Further, with $G = G_1 = G_2$, we have

$$\langle G, \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}G \rangle_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_s);\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)} = 2\nu \left(\|\varepsilon(u_1^+)\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^+)}^2 + \|\varepsilon(u_1^-)\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)}^2 \right) \ge 0,$$

and $\langle G, \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}G \rangle_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Gamma_s);\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)} = 0$ if and only if $u_1^{\pm} \equiv 0$ from Lemma 2.0. Finally, Lemma 2.1 also describes the kernel of \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} , finishing the proof.

4.2. The Semi-homogeneous System

Using the operator \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} , we rewrite system (22) with $\lambda = 0$ as the following abstract evolution equation

$$\frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}(\mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z) = \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} G \quad \text{in } (0, T), \qquad Z(0) = Z_0, \tag{26}$$

with $Z_0 \in \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2$. Composing (26) by ∇_{Γ_s} , we obtain an equation dealing with $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$ as unknown:

$$\frac{\partial \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z}{\partial t} - \mu \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} (\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z) = \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} G \quad \text{in } (0, T), \qquad \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z(0) = \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_0.$$
(27)

The interest of this formulation is that the following unbounded linear operator

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A} : \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_s) &\to \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_s) \\ \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z &\mapsto \mu \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}(\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z) \,, \end{aligned}$$
 (28)

with domain $D(\mathcal{A}) := \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_s)$, is self-adjoint. For $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \in \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^{\ell}(\Gamma_s)$ we consider the norm $\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^{\ell-1}(\Gamma_s)}$, with $\ell \geq 1$. Let us derive the fundamental properties of $\mathcal{A} = \mu \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s}$.

Proposition 4.4. The operator $(\mathcal{A}, D(\mathcal{A}))$ is self-adjoint, dissipative, and thus infinitesimal generator of an analytic semigroup on $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_s)$.

Proof. The Green's formula (2) shows that $(\nabla_{\Gamma_s})^* = -\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s}$. For $Z_1, Z_2 \in \mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_s)$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathcal{A}\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_1, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} &= \mu \langle \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}(\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_1), (\nabla_{\Gamma_s})^* \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} \\ &= -\mu \langle \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}(\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_1), \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} \\ &= -\mu \langle \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}(\Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z_1), \Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}. \end{aligned}$$

Using Proposition 4.3, we see that \mathcal{A} is self-adjoint and dissipative. Consequently, from [10, Chapter 1, Proposition 2.11], the operator $(\mathcal{A}, D(\mathcal{A}))$ generates an analytic semigroup, completing the proof.

We prove now that \mathcal{A} is maximal monotone, and has compact resolvent.

Proposition 4.5. The operator \mathcal{A} generates an analytic semigroup of contractions, and has compact resolvent.

7 Page 18 of 33

S. Court

Proof. Let us show that there exists $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\lambda \mathrm{Id} - \mathcal{A}$ is invertible. Let be $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W \in \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_s) \subset \mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_s)$ and consider the following resolvent equation:

$$\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z - \mathcal{A} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = \nabla_{\Gamma_s} W. \tag{29}$$

Taking the scalar product of this equation by $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$, and using the Green's formula (2), we obtain

$$\lambda \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} + \mu \langle \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}(\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z), \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} = \langle \nabla_{\Gamma_s} W, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}$$

Further, from the definition of \mathcal{P}_{Γ_s} , we introduce u^{\pm} the solution of

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = 0 & \text{and} & \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega_s^{\pm}, \\ u^{+} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \\ [u] = 0 & \text{and} & -[\sigma(u, p)] n_s = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z & \text{on } \Gamma_s, \end{cases}$$
(30)

and by integration by parts we deduce

$$\lambda \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} + 2\nu \left(\|\varepsilon(u^+)\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^+)} + \|\varepsilon(u^-)\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^-)} \right) = \langle \nabla_{\Gamma_s} W, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}.$$
(31)

Introduce the bilinear form

$$\begin{aligned} a: \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s) \times \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s) &\to \mathbb{R} \\ (\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_1, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_2) &\mapsto \lambda \langle \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_1, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} \\ &+ 2\nu \left(\langle \varepsilon(u_1^+), \varepsilon(u_2^+)_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^+)} + \langle \varepsilon(u_1^-), \varepsilon(u_2^-) \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^-)} \right), \end{aligned}$$

where u_1^{\pm} and u_2^{\pm} are solutions of (30) corresponding to $Z = Z_1$ and $Z = Z_2$, respectively. It satisfies

$$a(\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z) \ge \lambda \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}^2,$$

and thus, for $\lambda > 0$, it is coercive. From Proposition 4.4, it is sufficient to study the resolvent equation (29) for $\lambda = 1$ for example. Introduce the linear form $b : \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s) \ni \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \mapsto \langle \nabla_{\Gamma_s} W, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}$, which is clearly continuous. We consider the variational formulation of (29) as follows:

Find $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \in \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$ such that $a(\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \tilde{Z}) = b(\nabla_{\Gamma_s} \tilde{Z})$ for all $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} \tilde{Z} \in \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$. (32)

From the Lax-Milgram theorem there exists a unique $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \in \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$ solution of (32), and so satisfying (29). Note that it is sufficient to assume $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W \in \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$ for obtaining $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \in \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$. Choosing $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} \tilde{Z} = \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$ in (32), with the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality we get the following estimate

$$\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} \le C \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}.$$
(33)

Next, if we assume $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W \in \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)$, let us prove that $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \in \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)$ too. Since $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \in \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$, the identity

$$-\mathcal{A}\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = \nabla_{\Gamma_s} W - \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$$

yields

$$\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} = \|\mathcal{A} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} \le \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} + \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} \le C \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)},$$
(34)

where we used (33). Therefore $\mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \in \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$, which means that $u_{|\Gamma_s|}^{\pm} \in \mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)$ in system (30), leading to $u^{\pm} \in \mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})$, and consequently to $-[\sigma(u, p)] n_s = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z \in \mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)$. Furthermore, using classical elliptic estimates for Stokes problems with prescribed non-homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions (see [29, Lemma 6.1, Chapter IV], the estimates in fractional spaces can be obtained by linear interpolation), we estimate

$$\begin{split} \|\Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} &= \|\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} = \|\left[\sigma(u,p)\right] n_s\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} \\ &\leq C\left(\|u\|_{\mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})/\mathbb{R}^2} + \|\nabla p\|_{\mathbf{H}^{-1/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})/\mathbb{R}^2}\right) \\ &\leq C\|u_{|\Gamma_s}^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2} = C\|\mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2} \\ &\leq C\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s}\mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} = C\|\mathcal{A}\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} \\ &\leq C\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the Poincaré inequality (5) and estimate (34) above. Next, using (8), we deduce

$$\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)} \le \|Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2} \le C \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}.$$
(35)

We proceed similarly in order to estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)} &\leq \|Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^3(\Gamma_s)} \leq \|\Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)} = \|\left[\sigma(u,p)\right] n_s\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)} \\ &\leq C\left(\|u\|_{\mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})/\mathbb{R}^2} + \|\nabla p\|_{\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})/\mathbb{R}^2}\right) \\ &\leq C\|u_{|\Gamma_s}^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2} = C\|\mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2} \\ &\leq C\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)} = C\|\mathcal{A}\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Gamma_s)}.\end{aligned}$$

Again, the identity $-\mathcal{A}\nabla_{\Gamma_s}Z = \nabla_{\Gamma_s}W - \nabla_{\Gamma_s}Z$ yields

$$\|\mathcal{A}\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)} \le \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)} + \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)} \le C \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)},$$

where we have used (35), and thus we deduce

$$\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbb{H}^2(\Gamma_s)} \le C \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s)}.$$
(36)

Combining (35) and (36), by interpolation we obtain

$$\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_s)} \le C \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} W\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)},$$

which proves that $\operatorname{Id} - \mathcal{A}$ is surjective. Hence, from the Lumer-Phillips theorem, the analytic semigroup that \mathcal{A} generates is of contractions. Further, since the embedding $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^{5/2} \hookrightarrow \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^{3/2}$ is compact, the last estimate above shows that the resolvent $(\operatorname{Id} - \mathcal{A})^{-1}$ exists and is compact, which completes the proof.

We deduce wellposedness for system (26).

Theorem 4.1. Let be $0 < T < \infty$. For $G \in \mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)$ and $Z_0 \in \mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)$, the following system

$$\begin{aligned} -\operatorname{div}(u^{\pm},p^{\pm}) &= 0, \quad and \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 \quad in \ \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0,T), \\ u^{+} &= 0 \quad on \ \partial\Omega \times (0,T), \\ u^{\pm} &= \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} \quad and \quad -\left[\sigma(u,p)\right] n_s &= \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z + G \quad on \ \Gamma_s \times (0,T), \\ Z(\cdot,0) &= Z_0 \quad on \ \Gamma_s, \end{aligned}$$

admits a unique solution $Z \in \mathcal{Z}_T(\Gamma_s)$. Moreover, there exists a constant C > 0, non-decreasing with respect to T, such that

$$||Z||_{\mathcal{Z}_T(\Gamma_s)} + ||Z||_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(0,T;\mathbf{H}^2(\Gamma_s))} \leq C\left(||Z_0||_{\mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)} + ||G||_{\mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)}\right).$$

Proof. See for example [65, Proposition 3.3], that provides for (27) existence and uniqueness of $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$ satisfying

$$\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{L^2(0,T;\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_s))\cap \mathbb{H}^1(0,T;\mathbb{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s))} + \|\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;\mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma_s))} \le C\left(\|Z_0\|_{\mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)} + \|G\|_{\mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)}\right).$$

From $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$, we retrieve Z up to a constant, by using estimates (5)–(7) of Proposition 2.1, leading to the announced result.

4.3. The Non-homogeneous System

We now address system (22) in finite-time horizon, for general right-hand-sides, and any $\lambda \geq 0$.

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = F^{\pm} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = \operatorname{div} H^{\pm} \quad \text{in } \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, T),$$
$$u^{+} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T),$$
$$u^{+} = u^{-} = \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z \quad \text{and} \quad -\left[\sigma(u, p)\right] n_s = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z + G \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s \times (0, T),$$
$$Z(\cdot, 0) = Z_0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s.$$
$$(37)$$

With $0 < T < \infty$, we assume that $F^{\pm} \in \mathcal{F}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})$, $G \in \mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)$, $H^{\pm} \in \mathcal{U}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})$, and $Z_0 \in \mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)$. We use a *lifting* method: Let us describe a solution of (37) as

$$u^{\pm} = v^{\pm} + w^{\pm}, \quad p^{\pm} = q^{\pm} + \pi^{\pm},$$

where (w^{\pm}, π^{\pm}) are solutions of the following Stokes problems

$$-\operatorname{div}(w^{\pm}, \pi^{\pm}) = F^{\pm} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} w^{\pm} = \operatorname{div} H^{\pm} \text{ in } \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, T),$$

$$w^{+} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T),$$

$$w^{+} = w^{-} = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s \times (0, T),$$
(38)

and (v^{\pm}, q^{\pm}) satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} -\operatorname{div} \sigma(v^{\pm}, q^{\pm}) &= 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} v^{\pm} &= 0 & \operatorname{in} \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, T), \\ v^{+} &= 0 & \operatorname{on} \partial\Omega \times (0, T), \\ v^{+} &= v^{-} &= \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z \quad \text{and} \quad -\left[\sigma(v, q)\right] n_s &= \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z + G + \left[\sigma(w, \pi)\right] n_s \quad \operatorname{on} \ \Gamma_s \times (0, T), \\ Z(\cdot, 0) &= Z_0 & \operatorname{on} \ \Gamma_s. \end{aligned}$$
(39)

Note that the equations of (38) are uncoupled, as both Stokes systems can be considered in Ω_s^+ and Ω_s^- independently. By considering $\overline{w}^{\pm} := w^{\pm} - H^{\pm}$, we eliminate the non-homogeneous divergence condition, and we reduce (38) to standard Stokes problems with non-homogeneous Dirichlet condition:

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(\overline{w}^{\pm}, \pi^{\pm}) = F^{\pm} + 2\nu \operatorname{div} \varepsilon(H^{\pm}) \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} \overline{w}^{\pm} = 0 \quad \text{in} \ \Omega_s^{\pm}, \\ \overline{w}^{+} = 0 \quad \text{on} \ \partial\Omega, \\ \overline{w}^{\pm} = -H^{\pm} \quad \text{on} \ \Gamma_s.$$

$$(40)$$

It is well-known that for almost every $t \in (0,T)$ there exists a unique solution $(\overline{w}^{\pm},\pi^{\pm})$ satisfying

$$\|\overline{w}^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{H}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}^{2} + \|\pi\|_{\mathbf{H}^{1}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})/\mathbb{R}}^{2} \leq C\left(\|F^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}^{2} + \|\operatorname{div}\varepsilon(H^{\pm})\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}^{2} + \|H^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_{s})}^{2}\right).$$

See for example [29, Lemma 6.1, Chapter IV]. We deduce the same estimate for $(w^{\pm}, \pi) = (\overline{w}^{\pm} + H^{\pm}, \pi)$. Further, integrating in time this estimate, it follows from the trace theorem the following estimate

$$\| \left[\sigma(w,\pi) \right] n_s \|_{\mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)} \le C \left(\| F^{\pm} \|_{\mathcal{F}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})} + \| H^{\pm} \|_{\mathcal{U}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})} \right).$$

$$\tag{41}$$

On the other side, equation (39) admits the following operator formulation

$$\frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z - \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}(\mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z) = \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}(G + [\sigma(w, \pi)] n_s) \quad \text{in } (0, \mathrm{T}), \quad Z(0) = Z_0.$$

Following Proposition 4.5 and Theorem 4.1, system (39) admits a unique solution, satisfying

$$\|Z\|_{\mathcal{Z}_T(\Gamma_s)} \le C\left(\|Z_0\|_{\mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)} + \|G\|_{\mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)} + \|[\sigma(w,\pi)]n_s\|_{\mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)}\right)$$

Combined with (41), this estimate yields

$$\|Z\|_{\mathcal{Z}_T(\Gamma_s)} \le C\left(\|Z_0\|_{\mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)} + \|G\|_{\mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)} + \|F^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{F}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})} + \|H^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{U}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})}\right).$$
(42)

Wellposedness of the linear system (37) is stated as follows:

Proposition 4.6. For $0 < T < \infty$, if $F^{\pm} \in \mathcal{F}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})$, $H^{\pm} \in \mathcal{U}_T(\Omega_s^{\pm})$, $G \in \mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)$ and $Z_0 \in \mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)$, then there exists a unique solution $Z \in \mathcal{Z}_T(\Gamma_s)$ to system (37). It satisfies (42).

Proof. Existence is provided by the lifting method described above. For proving uniqueness, we use the linearity of the system, and assume $F^{\pm} = H^{\pm} = G = Z_0 = 0$. Then from Lemma 2.3 we obtain (11) with g = 0, namely the following identity

$$\frac{\mu}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s}Z\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} + 2\nu\left(\|\varepsilon(u^+)\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^+)} + \|\varepsilon(u^-)\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)}\right) = \lambda\|\nabla_{\Gamma_s}Z\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)}.$$

The Grönwall's lemma combined with $Z_0 = 0$ yields $Z \equiv 0$ (up to a constant of \mathbb{R}^2), and concludes the proof.

5. Feedback Operator for the Linear System

This section is devoted to the design of a feedback operator that stabilizes system (22) in infinite time horizon. Let us first study its controllability properties in finite time horizon.

5.1. Approximate Controllability

Let be $0 < T < \infty$. We consider system (22) with control G, with null data and initial condition:

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, T),$$
$$u^{+} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T),$$
$$u^{\pm} = \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} \quad \text{and} \quad -\left[\sigma(u, p)\right] n = \mu \Delta_{\Gamma_s} Z + G \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s \times (0, T),$$
$$Z(\cdot, 0) = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s.$$
(43)

Recall the definition of *approximate controllability* and *exact controllability* for linear evolution equations of type (43), that we state in our context as follows:

Definition 5.1. Define the reachable set as

$$R(T) := \{Z(\cdot, T) \text{ such that } Z \text{ is solution of } (43) \mid G \in \mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)\}.$$

We say that system (43) is approximately controllable if R(T) is dense in $\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2$, or equivalently if $R(T)^{\perp} = \mathbb{R}^2$. We say that (43) is exactly controllable if $R(T) = \mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)/\mathbb{R}^2$.

We obtain the following key result:

Proposition 5.1. System (43) is approximately controllable.

Proof. Introduce $Z_T \in R(T)^{\perp}$, and the following adjoint system

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(\phi^{\pm}, \psi^{\pm}) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} \phi^{\pm} = 0 \quad \text{in} \ \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, T), \\ \phi^{+} = 0 \quad \text{on} \ \partial\Omega \times (0, T), \\ \phi^{\pm} = -\frac{\partial\zeta}{\partial t} \quad \text{and} \quad -\left[\sigma(\phi, \psi)\right] n_s = \mu \Delta_{\Gamma_s} \zeta \quad \text{on} \ \Gamma_s \times (0, T), \\ \zeta(T) = Z_T \quad \text{on} \ \Gamma_s, \end{cases}$$
(44)

with $(\phi^+, \psi^+, \phi^-, \psi^-, \zeta)$ as unknowns. Now consider (u^+, p^+, u^-, p^-, Z) the solution of (43). Taking the inner product in $L^2(0,T; \mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^{\pm}))$ of the left equation in the first line of (44) by u^{\pm} , by integration by parts we obtain for all $G \in \mathcal{G}_T(\Gamma_s)$

$$\mu \left\langle \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_T, \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z(T) \right\rangle_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} = \int_0^T \left\langle G, \frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial t} \right\rangle_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s)} \mathrm{d}t.$$

Since $Z_T \in R(T)^{\perp}$, this identity implies that $\frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial t} = 0$ in $L^2(0,T; \mathbf{L}^2(\Gamma_s))$. System (44) then becomes system (9) of Lemma 2.2, which yields that ζ is a constant of \mathbb{R}^2 , and therefore Z_T too, completing the proof.

5.2. Feedback Operator

Theorem 5.1. For all $\lambda > 0$ and $Z_0 \in \mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)$, there exists a finite-dimensional subspace $\mathbb{H}_u^{(\lambda)}$ of ∇_{Γ_s} $\mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_s)$, with orthogonal projection $P_{\lambda} : \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_s) \to \mathbb{H}_u^{(\lambda)}$, a finite-dimensional space $\Xi \subset \mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)$ and a linear operator $\Pi_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}\left(\mathbb{H}_u^{(\lambda)}, (\mathbb{H}_u^{(\lambda)})^*\right)$ defining the feedback operator

$$\mathcal{K}_{\lambda} := -\mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s}(\nabla_{\Gamma_s})^* \Pi_{\lambda} P_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}\left(\nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Gamma_s), \Xi\right)$$

7 Page 22 of 33

such that the solution Z of system (22) with $G = \mathcal{K}_{\lambda} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$ satisfies $\|Z\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)} \leq C_0$, where the constant C_0 depends only on Z_0 . Further, the operator Π_{λ} is the solution of the following finite-dimensional algebraic Riccati equation

$$\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_{\lambda}^* \succeq 0, \quad \Pi_{\lambda} \mathcal{A}_{\lambda} + \mathcal{A}_{\lambda}^* \Pi_{\lambda} - \Pi_{\lambda} \mathcal{B}_{\lambda} \mathcal{B}_{\lambda}^* \Pi_{\lambda} + I = 0, \tag{45}$$

where we have introduced $\mathcal{A}_{\lambda} = P_{\lambda}\mathcal{A}P_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{H}_{u}^{(\lambda)},\mathbb{H}_{u}^{(\lambda)})$ and $\mathcal{B}_{\lambda} = P_{\lambda}\nabla_{\Gamma_{s}}\mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_{s}} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_{s}),\mathbb{H}_{u}^{(\lambda)}).$

Proof. Let us consider the operator formulation of system (22), namely

$$\frac{\partial \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z}{\partial t} - (\mathcal{A} + \lambda \mathrm{Id}) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} G \quad \text{in } (0, T), \qquad \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z(0) = \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_0, \tag{46}$$

where \mathcal{A} is defined in (28). Recall that from $\nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$ we can retrieve Z (up to a constant) via Proposition 2.1. We can choose λ in the resolvent of \mathcal{A} , without loss of generality. From Proposition 4.4, the spectrum of \mathcal{A} is a discrete set of complex eigenvalues $(\lambda_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$, contained in an angular domain $\{z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\} \mid \arg(\theta - z) \in (-\alpha, \alpha)\}$ where $\theta \in (0, \pi/2)$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. We can order them such that

 $\cdots < \Re(\lambda_{N+1}) < -\lambda < \Re(\lambda_N) < \cdots < \Re(\lambda_2) < \Re(\lambda_1) < 0.$

Furthermore, the generalized eigenspace associated with each eigenvalue is of finite dimension (see for instance [38, Chapter III, Theorem 6.29 page 187]). Denoting by $\Lambda(\lambda_i)$ the real generalized eigenspace of λ_i or $(\lambda_i, \overline{\lambda_i})$ whether $\Im(\lambda_i) = 0$ or not, respectively, we introduce the Hilbert spaces

$$\mathbb{H}_{u}^{(\lambda)} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} \Lambda(\lambda_{i}), \quad \mathbb{H}_{s}^{(\lambda)} = \bigoplus_{i=N+1}^{\infty} \Lambda(\lambda_{i}).$$

Let us explain what we mean by real generalized eigenspace: If $(e_j(\lambda_i))_{1 \le j \le m(\lambda_i)}$ is a basis of the complex generalized eigenspace of λ_i , where $m(\lambda_i)$ denotes its multiplicity, then $\Lambda(\lambda_i)$ is generated by the family $\{\Re(e_j(\lambda_i)), \Im(e_j(\lambda_i)) \mid 1 \le j \le m(\lambda_i)\}$. Note that $\mathbb{H}_u^{(\lambda)}$, the space of unstable modes, is of finite dimension. Both $\mathbb{H}_u^{(\lambda)}$ and $\mathbb{H}_s^{(\lambda)}$ are invariant under \mathcal{A} . Denote by P_{λ} the orthogonal projection on $\mathbb{H}_u^{(\lambda)}$, parallel to $\mathbb{H}_s^{(\lambda)}$. Projecting equation (46), with $\lambda = 0$, on $\mathbb{H}_u^{(\lambda)}$ yields

$$\frac{\partial P_{\lambda} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z}{\partial t} - P_{\lambda} \mathcal{A} P_{\lambda} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = P_{\lambda} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} G \quad \text{in } (0, T), \qquad P_{\lambda} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z(0) = P_{\lambda} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z_0. \tag{47}$$

The approximate controllability of system (43) obtained in Proposition 5.1 implies that (47) too is approximately controllable. Its reachable set is dense in $\mathbb{H}_{u}^{(\lambda)}$, and since this space is of finite dimension, it is actually equal to $\mathbb{H}_{u}^{(\lambda)}$. This means that equation (47) is exactly controllable. From there, we use for instance the result of [70, Chapter I, Theorem 2.9, page 35] stating that there exists a linear operator K_{λ} defined on $\mathbb{H}_{u}^{(\lambda)}$ such that $P_{\lambda}\mathcal{A}P_{\lambda} + P_{\lambda}\nabla_{\Gamma_{s}}\mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_{s}}K_{\lambda}$ is exponentially stable with λ as a decay rate. Since the same property holds for $\mathcal{A}(\mathrm{Id} - P_{\lambda})$, we merely set $\mathcal{K}_{\lambda} = \Re K_{\lambda} P_{\lambda}$ and $\Xi = \Re K_{\lambda}(\mathbb{H}_{u}^{(\lambda)})$. Further, following [62] (more specifically Lemma 8.4.1 page 381 and Theorem 41 page 384), we consider the following infinite time horizon optimal control problem:

$$\inf_{G \in \Xi} \left\{ \mathcal{J}(Z, G) \mid Z \text{ satisfies } (43) \right\},\tag{48}$$

with $\mathcal{J}(Z,G) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \|P_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z\|_{\mathbf{H}^{(\lambda)}_u}^2 dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \|G\|_{\Xi}^2 dt$. The first-order optimality conditions for Problem (48) lead to $G = -\mathcal{P}^*_{\Gamma_s} (\nabla_{\Gamma_s})^* \Pi_\lambda P_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \Pi_\lambda P_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z$, where $\Pi_\lambda = \Pi^*_\lambda \succeq 0$ satisfies the Riccati equation (45), finishing the proof.

We deduce an estimate for the stabilized linear system with non-homogeneous right-hand-sides.

Corollary 5.1. Assume $Z_0 \in \mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)$, $F^{\pm} \in \mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^{\pm})$, $H^{\pm} \in \mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^{\pm})$, and $G \in \mathcal{G}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)$. Using the feedback operator \mathcal{K}_{λ} obtained in Theorem 5.1, there exists a unique solution $Z \in \mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)$ to the following system

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = F^{\pm} \quad and \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = \operatorname{div} H^{\pm} \quad in \ \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, \infty), \\ u^{+} = 0 \quad on \ \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty), \\ u^{+} = u^{-} = \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z \quad and \quad -\left[\sigma(u, p)\right] n = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z + \mathcal{K}_{\lambda} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z + G \quad on \ \Gamma_s \times (0, \infty), \\ Z(\cdot, 0) = Z_0 \quad on \ \Gamma_s, \end{cases}$$
(49)

and it satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} \|u^{+}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|p^{+}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|u^{-}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} + \|p^{-}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} + \|Z\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} \\ &\leq C_{s}(1+\lambda) \left(\|Z_{0}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{0}(\Gamma_{s})} + \|F^{+}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|F^{-}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} + \|H^{+}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|H^{-}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} + \|G\|_{\mathcal{G}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} \right), \end{aligned}$$

$$\tag{50}$$

where the constant $C_s > 0$ depends only on Γ_s .

Proof. The lifting method of Sect. 4.3 can be used here: Introduce $u^{\pm} = v^{\pm} + w^{\pm}$ and $p^{\pm} = q^{\pm} + \pi^{\pm}$, where (w^{\pm}, π^{\pm}) satisfy the Stokes problems (38) with (0, T) replaced by $(0, \infty)$, and where (v^{\pm}, q^{\pm}, Z) satisfies

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(v^{\pm}, q^{\pm}) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} v^{\pm} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, \infty),$$
$$v^{+} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty),$$
$$v^{\pm} = \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z \quad \text{and} \quad -\left[\sigma(v, q)\right] n_s = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z + \mathcal{K}_{\lambda} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z + G + \left[\sigma(w, \pi)\right] n_s \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s \times (0, \infty),$$
$$Z(\cdot, 0) = Z_0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s.$$
(51)

We formulate system (51) as

$$\frac{\partial \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z}{\partial t} - \lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z - \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} (\mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z) - \mathcal{K}_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} \left(G + [\sigma(w, \pi)] \, n_s \right), \\ \frac{\partial \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z}{\partial t} - (\lambda \operatorname{Id} + \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{K}_\lambda) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} Z = \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \mathcal{P}_{\Gamma_s} \left(G + [\sigma(w, \pi)] \, n_s \right),$$

and since the operator $\lambda Id + A + K_{\lambda}$ is the infinitesimal generator of an analytic semigroup of negative type, a consequence of [10, Theorem 3.1 page 143, Part II] and Proposition 2.1 is the existence of $Z \in \mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)$, satisfying

$$||Z||_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)} \leq C \left(||Z_0||_{\mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)} + ||G||_{\mathcal{G}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)} + ||[\sigma(w,\pi)] n_s||_{\mathcal{G}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)} \right).$$

Next, the steps of Sect. 4.3 can be repeated to obtain the existence and uniqueness of Z, which satisfies

$$\|Z\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} \leq C\left(\|Z_{0}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{0}(\Gamma_{s})} + \|F^{+}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|F^{-}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} + \|H^{+}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|H^{-}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} + \|G\|_{\mathcal{G}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}\right).$$
(52)

Further, (u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) are also obtained uniquely as the solutions of the classical Stokes problems with Dirichlet boundary conditions and non-homogeneous divergence condition, namely

$$-\operatorname{div} \sigma(u^{\pm}, p^{\pm}) = F^{\pm} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\pm} = \operatorname{div} H^{\pm} \quad \text{in } \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, \infty),$$
$$u^{\pm} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty),$$
$$u^{\pm} = \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z \quad \text{on } \Gamma_s \times (0, \infty).$$

Up to considering $u^{\pm} - H^{\pm}$, from [29, Lemma 6.1, Chapter IV] they satisfy the estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \|u^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|p^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} &\leq C\left(\left\|\frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} - \lambda Z\right\|_{L^{2}(0,\infty;\mathbf{H}^{3/2}(\Gamma_{s}))} + \|H^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\right) \\ &\leq \left((1+\lambda)\|Z\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} + \|H^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\right) \end{aligned}$$

which, combined with (52), leads to (50), and thus the announced result.

6. Feedback Stabilization of the Nonlinear System

In this section we prove Theorem 1.1. We first prove wellposedness of system (19)–(20) when \hat{g} is replaced by $\mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \left((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \hat{Z} \right) + \mathcal{K}_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \hat{Z}$ in (19):

$$-\operatorname{div}(\sigma(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{p}^{\pm})) = \hat{f}^{\pm} + F(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{p}^{\pm}, \hat{Z}) \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div} \hat{u} = \operatorname{div} H(\hat{u}^{\pm}, \hat{Z}) \text{ in } \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, \infty),$$
$$\hat{u}^{+} = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty),$$
$$\hat{u}^{\pm} = \frac{\partial \hat{Z}}{\partial t} - \lambda \hat{Z}, \quad \text{and} \quad -\left[\sigma(\hat{u}, \hat{p})\right] n_s = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \hat{Z} + \mathcal{K}_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \hat{Z} + G(\hat{u}^{+}, \hat{p}^{+}, \hat{u}^{-}, \hat{p}^{-}, \hat{Z}) \text{ on } \Gamma_s \times (0, \infty),$$
$$\hat{Z}(\cdot, 0) = X_0 - \operatorname{Id} \text{ on } \Gamma_s.$$
(53)

Denote

$$\mathcal{H}(\Omega_s^+, \Omega_s^-, \Gamma_s) := \mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^+) \times \mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^+) \times \mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^-) \times \mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^-) \times \mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s),$$

that we equip with the norm that goes without saying. A solution for system (53) is obtained as a fixed point of the mapping

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{N} : & \mathcal{H}(\Omega_s^+, \Omega_s^-, \Gamma_s) \to & \mathcal{H}(\Omega_s^+, \Omega_s^-, \Gamma_s) \\ & (\hat{u}_1^+, \hat{p}_1^+, \hat{u}_1^-, \hat{p}_1^-, \hat{Z}_1) \mapsto (\hat{u}_2^+, \hat{p}_2^+, \hat{u}_2^-, \hat{p}_2^-, \hat{Z}_2), \end{aligned}$$

where $(\hat{u}_2^+, \hat{p}_2^+, \hat{u}_2^-, \hat{p}_2^-, \hat{Z}_2)$ is the solution of (49) with F^{\pm} , H^{\pm} and G replaced by $F(\hat{u}_1^{\pm}, \hat{p}_1^{\pm}, \hat{Z}_1)$, $H(\hat{u}_1^{\pm}, \hat{Z}_1)$ and $G(\hat{u}_1^+, \hat{p}_1^+, \hat{u}_1^-, \hat{p}_1^-, \hat{Z}_1)$, respectively:

Estimate (50) of Corollary 5.1 yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\hat{u}_{2}^{+}, \hat{p}_{2}^{+}, \hat{u}_{2}^{-}, \hat{p}_{2}^{-}, \hat{Z}_{2})\|_{\mathcal{H}(\Omega_{s}^{+}, \Omega_{s}^{-}, \Gamma_{s})} &\leq C_{s}(1+\lambda) \Big(\|X_{0} - \operatorname{Id}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{0}(\Gamma_{s})} + \|\hat{f}^{+}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|\hat{f}^{-}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} \\ &+ \|F(\hat{u}_{1}^{+}, \hat{p}_{1}^{+}, \hat{Z}_{1})\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|F(\hat{u}_{1}^{-}, \hat{p}_{1}^{-}, \hat{Z}_{1})\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} \\ &+ \|H(\hat{u}_{1}^{+}, \hat{Z}_{1})\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|H(\hat{u}_{1}^{-}, \hat{Z}_{1})\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} \\ &+ \|G(\hat{u}_{1}^{+}, \hat{p}_{1}^{+}, \hat{u}_{1}^{-}, \hat{p}_{1}^{-}, \hat{Z}_{1})\|_{\mathcal{G}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} \Big). \end{aligned}$$
(54)

Consider the following closed subset of $\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)$

$$\mathcal{B}_{\rho} := \left\{ (\hat{u}^{+}, \hat{p}^{+}, \hat{u}^{-}, \hat{p}^{-}, \hat{Z}) \in \mathcal{H}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+}, \Omega_{s}^{-}, \Gamma_{s}) \mid \| (\hat{u}^{+}, \hat{p}^{+}, \hat{u}^{-}, \hat{p}^{-}, \hat{Z} \|_{\mathcal{H}(\Omega_{s}^{+}, \Omega_{s}^{-}, \Gamma_{s})} \le 2C_{s}(1+\lambda)\rho \right\},$$

where

$$\rho := \|X_0 - \mathrm{Id}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)} + \|\hat{f}^+\|_{\mathcal{F}_\infty(\Omega_s^+)} + \|\hat{f}^-\|_{\mathcal{F}_\infty(\Omega_s^-)},$$

and C_s is the constant of estimate (50). Let us prove that \mathcal{N} is a contraction in \mathcal{B} , provided that $\|X_0 - \operatorname{Id}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_0(\Gamma_s)}$ and $\|\hat{f}^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^{\pm})}$ are small enough. Since the different nonlinearities in the right-handside of (54) are polynomial, from [35, Proposition B.1, page 283] we can address them with estimates of type

$$\|\nabla Y(X)\nabla \hat{u}\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Omega_s^{\pm})} \le C \|\nabla Y(X)\|_{\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})} \|\nabla \hat{u}\|_{\mathbb{H}^1(\Omega_s^{\pm})}.$$

Combined with the Lipschitz estimates of Proposition 3.1 and Corollary 3.1, we deduce

$$\begin{split} \|F(\hat{u}^{\pm},\hat{p}^{\pm},\hat{Z})\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} &\leq C\|\nabla\tilde{Y}(\tilde{X})\|_{\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\left(\|\nabla\hat{u}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|\hat{p}\|_{\mathrm{H}^{1}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\right)\|\nabla\tilde{X} - \mathrm{I}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{3/2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})},\\ \|F(\hat{u}^{\pm},\hat{p}^{\pm},\hat{Z})\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} &\leq C\left(1 + \|X - \mathrm{Id}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}\right)\left(\|\hat{u}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|\hat{p}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\right)\|X - \mathrm{Id}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}\\ &\leq C\left(1 + \|e^{-\lambda t}\hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}\right)\left(\|\hat{u}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|\hat{p}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\right)\|e^{-\lambda t}\hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}\\ \|H(\hat{u}^{\pm},\hat{Z})\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} &\leq C\|\hat{u}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\|X - \mathrm{Id}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} \leq C\|\hat{u}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\|e^{-\lambda t}\hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})},\\ \|G(\hat{u}^{+},\hat{p}^{+},\hat{u}^{-},\hat{p}^{-},\hat{Z})\|_{\mathcal{G}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} &\leq C\left(1 + \|e^{-\lambda t}\hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}\right)\left(\|\hat{u}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|\hat{p}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\right)\|e^{-\lambda t}\hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}\\ &+\mathcal{O}(\|\nabla\tilde{X} - I\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma_{s})}^{2})\\ &\leq C\left(1 + \|e^{-\lambda t}\hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}\right)\left(\|\hat{u}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|\hat{p}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\right)\|e^{-\lambda t}\hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}\\ &+C\|e^{-\lambda t}\hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}^{2}. \end{split}$$

We see easily that $\|e^{-\lambda t} \hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)} \leq C(1+\lambda) \|\hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)}$. Consequently, if $(\hat{u}_1^+, \hat{p}_1^+, \hat{u}_1^-, \hat{p}_1^-, \hat{Z}_1) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$, from (54) we obtain

$$\|(\hat{u}_{2}^{+}, \hat{p}_{2}^{+}, \hat{u}_{2}^{-}, \hat{p}_{2}^{-}, \hat{Z}_{2})\|_{\mathcal{H}(\Omega_{s}^{+}, \Omega_{s}^{-}, \Gamma_{s})} \leq C_{s}(1+\lambda)\left(\rho + C\rho^{2}(1+\lambda)^{3}(1+(1+\lambda)+\rho(1+\lambda)^{2})\right).$$

Therefore \mathcal{N} is well-defined, and if ρ is small enough, that is

$$C\rho^2(1+\lambda)^3(1+(1+\lambda)+\rho(1+\lambda)^3) \le \rho$$

the ball \mathcal{B} is left invariant under \mathcal{N} . Next, let be

$$(\hat{u}_{i}^{+}, \hat{p}_{i}^{+}, \hat{u}_{i}^{-}, \hat{p}_{i}^{-}, \hat{Z}_{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{\rho}$$

for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. The difference

$$(\overline{u}^+, \overline{p}^+, \overline{u}^-, \overline{p}^-, \overline{Z}) := \mathcal{N}(\hat{u}_1^+, \hat{p}_1^+, \hat{u}_1^-, \hat{p}_1^-, \hat{Z}_1) - \mathcal{N}(\hat{u}_2^+, \hat{p}_2^+, \hat{u}_2^-, \hat{p}_2^-, \hat{Z}_2)$$

satisfies

$$-\operatorname{div}(\sigma(\overline{u}^{\pm},\overline{p}^{\pm})) = \overline{F}^{\pm} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{div}\overline{u} = \operatorname{div}\overline{H}^{\pm} \quad \operatorname{in} \ \Omega_{s}^{\pm} \times (0,\infty), \\ \overline{u}^{+} = 0 \quad \operatorname{on} \ \partial\Omega \times (0,\infty), \\ \overline{u}^{+} = \overline{0} \quad \operatorname{on} \ \partial\Omega \times (0,\infty), \\ \overline{u}^{+} = \overline{0} \quad \operatorname{on} \ \partial\Omega \times (0,\infty), \\ \overline{u}^{+} = \overline{0} \quad \operatorname{on} \ \nabla_{1s}\overline{Z} + \overline{G} \quad \operatorname{on} \ \Gamma_{s} \times (0,\infty), \\ \overline{Z}(\cdot,0) = 0 \quad \operatorname{on} \ \Gamma_{s}, \end{cases}$$
(55)

where we have introduced

$$\begin{split} \overline{F}^{\pm} &:= F(\hat{u}_{1}^{\pm}, \hat{p}_{1}^{\pm}, \hat{Z}_{1}) - F(\hat{u}_{2}^{\pm}, \hat{p}_{2}^{\pm}, \hat{Z}_{2}), \\ \overline{H}^{\pm} &:= H(\hat{u}_{1}^{\pm}, \hat{Z}_{1}) - H(\hat{u}_{2}^{\pm}, \hat{Z}_{2}), \\ \overline{G} &:= G(\hat{u}_{1}^{+}, \hat{p}_{1}^{+}, \hat{u}_{1}^{-}, \hat{p}_{1}^{-}, \hat{Z}_{1}) - G(\hat{u}_{2}^{+}, \hat{p}_{2}^{+}, \hat{u}_{2}^{-}, \hat{p}_{2}^{-}, \hat{Z}_{2}). \end{split}$$

Using the Lipschitz estimates of Proposition 3.1 and Corollary 3.1, they satisfy

$$\begin{split} \|\overline{F}^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|\overline{G}\|_{\mathcal{G}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s}^{\pm})} &\leq C \left(\|e^{-\lambda t} (\hat{Z}_{1} - \hat{Z}_{2})\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} + \|\hat{u}_{1} - \hat{u}_{2}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|\hat{p}_{1} - \hat{p}_{2}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} \right) \\ & \times \left(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \|\hat{u}_{i}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|\hat{p}_{i}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|e^{-\lambda t} \hat{Z}_{i}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} \right) \\ & \times \left(1 + \|e^{-\lambda t} \hat{Z}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} + \|e^{-\lambda t} \hat{Z}_{2}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} \right), \\ & \|\overline{H}^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} \leq C \left(\|e^{-\lambda t} (\hat{Z}_{1} - \hat{Z}_{2})\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} + \|\hat{u}_{1} - \hat{u}_{2}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} \right) \\ & \times \left(\|\hat{u}_{2}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} + \|e^{-\lambda t} \hat{Z}_{1}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})} \right). \end{split}$$

S. Court

Combined with estimate (50) of Corollary 5.1, we then obtain

$$\begin{split} \|(\overline{u}^{+}, \overline{u}^{+}, \overline{u}^{-}, \overline{p}^{-}, \overline{Z})\|_{\mathcal{H}(\Omega_{s}^{+}, \Omega_{s}^{-}, \Gamma_{s})} &\leq C_{s}(1+\lambda) \Big(\|\overline{F}^{+}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|\overline{F}^{-}\|_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} \\ &+ \|\overline{H}^{+}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + \|\overline{H}^{-}\|_{\mathcal{U}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} + \|\overline{G}\|_{\mathcal{G}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}\Big) \\ &\leq C(1+\lambda)^{2}\rho(1+(1+\lambda)\rho) \\ &\times \|(\hat{u}_{1}^{+}-\hat{u}_{2}^{+}, \hat{p}_{1}^{+}-\hat{p}_{2}^{+}, \hat{u}_{1}^{-}-\hat{u}_{2}^{-}, \hat{p}_{1}^{-}-\hat{p}_{2}^{-}, \hat{Z}_{1}-\hat{Z}_{2})\|_{\mathcal{H}(\Omega_{s}^{+}, \Omega_{s}^{-}, \Gamma_{s})}. \end{split}$$

Choosing once again ρ small enough, that is $C(1+\lambda)^2\rho(1+(1+\lambda)\rho) < 1$, we obtain that \mathcal{N} is a contraction in \mathcal{B}_{ρ} . Therefore wellposedness for (53) is a consequence of the Banach fixed-point theorem. Furthermore, $\|\hat{Z}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)}$ is bounded. Recall that in (18) we introduced $\hat{Z} = e^{\lambda t}(X - \mathrm{Id})$, where Id can be replaced by any deformation $X_c \in \mathcal{C}_{\Gamma_s}$. In (53) we have chosen

$$\hat{g} = \mu \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \left((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \hat{Z} \right) + \mathcal{K}_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} \hat{Z} = \mu e^{\lambda t} \operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \left((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} (X - X_c) \right) + e^{\lambda t} \mathcal{K}_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} (X - X_c).$$

Still following Sect. 3.2, we note that system (53) is equivalent to (1) by choosing

$$g = \left(|\operatorname{cof} \nabla \tilde{X} n_s|^{-1} \tilde{g} \right) \circ X^{-1} = \left(|\operatorname{cof} \nabla \tilde{X} n_s|^{-1} e^{-\lambda t} \hat{g} \right) \circ X^{-1} = \left(|\operatorname{cof} \nabla \tilde{X} n_s|^{-1} \left(\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \left((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} (X - X_c) \right) + \mathcal{K}_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} (X - X_c) \right) \right) \circ X^{-1}.$$

Since $(\det \mathfrak{g}(t))^{1/2} = |\operatorname{cof} \nabla \tilde{X} n_s| (\det \mathfrak{g}_s)^{1/2}$, and $(\det \mathfrak{g}_s)^{1/2} = 1$ is constant, we consider

$$g = \left((\det \mathfrak{g})^{-1/2} \left(\operatorname{div}_{\Gamma_s} \left((\tau_s \otimes \tau_s) \nabla_{\Gamma_s} (X - X_c) \right) + \mathcal{K}_\lambda \nabla_{\Gamma_s} (X - X_c) \right) \right) \circ X^{-1}.$$

Thus the result announced in Theorem 1.1 follows.

7. Comments on a Possible Extension to Dimension 3

Some results obtained in the present paper could certainly and straightforwardly be extended to the three-dimensional case, like the study of the Poincaré-Steklov operator for example, or the design of the feedback operator. Higher-order Sobolev spaces may be considered for guaranteeing the C^1 regularity and stability of Sobolev spaces by product. However, some geometric aspects would deserve a careful investigation. Let us make comments on the difficulties that appear in dimension 3:

- About the stationary state obtained in Lemma 2.1: In dimension 2, the interface $\Gamma(t)$ is a curve, and its mean curvature is simply called the *curvature*. From the fundamental theorem of curves, this curvature determines entirely $\Gamma(t)$, up to proper rigid deformations. In the case of dimension 3, the interface $\Gamma(t)$ is then a surface, and this is the Gaussian curvature which characterizes the metric of the surface. We say that this is an *intrinsic* property of the surface $\Gamma(t)$ (cf. the Gauss's *Theorem Egregium*). More precisely, two surfaces with the same Gaussian curvature differ only up to proper rigid deformations, we say that they are *congruent*. The mean curvature which appears in the surface-tension model is only extrinsic in dimension 3, which means that two surfaces with the same mean curvature could not be congruent. However, when restricting the framework to closed surfaces, the Alexandrov's theorem [3] (see [4] for an English translation) provides a positive result: Two closed surfaces with the same mean curvature are identical, up to essential transformations. Essential transformations refer to proper rigid deformations and dilatation. In the incompressible case, the volume contained inside the surface is constant, and thus this notion reduces to proper rigid deformations, like in dimension 2.
- About the linearized system in dimension 3: Simplifications specific to dimension 2 have been made in Sect. 3.2 when linearizing the mean curvature of $\Gamma(t)$ for small displacements. The expression so obtained involves the operator $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$. A priori the linear operator which appears in dimension 3 is more complex, and discussions of Sect. 2.3 about the kernel of $\nabla_{\Gamma_s}^{n_s}$ would no longer be relevant.

• About the extension of diffeomorphisms on the sphere into the ball: This question is less simple in the case of a 2-sphere. In [69, system (8.3), section 8], the author gave comments on conditions under which we could extend a diffeomorphism defined on a boundary of a given domain. A sufficient condition is that the set of diffeomorphisms of this boundary preserving the orientation is connected. In \mathbb{R}^2 , this sufficient condition is always fulfilled and thus the answer is positive. In \mathbb{R}^3 , things are more delicate, and counter-examples to this sufficient condition exist. However, in the case of the sphere, Smale provided a positive answer in [60]. The result requires a C^{∞} regularity, and we do not know whether it could be used for obtaining an extension with the same properties as in Sect. 3.1. Further comments on these geometric questions would go beyond the scope of the present article.

Acknowledgements. Professor Jean-Pierre Raymond is warmly thanked for having introduced the problem, when the author was a PhD-student at the Institute of Mathematics of Toulouse.

Funding Open access funding provided by University of Innsbruck and Medical University of Innsbruck.

Declarations

Conflict of interest On behalf of all authors, the corresponding author states that there is no conflict of interest.

Open Access. This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

A Appendix

A.1 Proof of Proposition 3.1

Harmonic extension of X. Let us first discuss of how to extend X from the circle Γ_s into the unit ball Ω_s^- . In dimension 2, one way of extending diffeomorphisms of the circle is to consider the Douady-Earle extension [26], which is harmonic, and therefore inherits of the elliptic regularity from its Dirichlet boundary condition. It relies on the Radó-Kneser-Choquet theorem, and more specifically the Poisson integral formula. Many generalizations of such a result have been obtained afterwards, in particular requiring the strong Choquet condition, namely that $X(\Gamma_s)$ shall be convex. But more recently it has been extended in [5,6] to the case of homeomorphisms from the unit circle onto a simple closed curve of \mathbb{R}^2 . We state [5, Theorem 1.3] in our context as follows:

Lemma A.1. Let $X : \Gamma_s \to X(\Gamma_s)$ be an orientation preserving diffeomorphism of class C^1 onto a simple closed curve $X(\Gamma_s)$. Let D be the bounded domain such that $\partial D = X(\Gamma_s)$. Denote by X_{RKC} the solution of the Dirichlet problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta X_{\rm RKC} = 0 & in \ \Omega_s^-, \\ X_{\rm RKC} = X & on \ \Gamma_s. \end{cases}$$
(56)

When $X_{\text{RKC}} \in C^1(\overline{\Omega_s^-})$, it is a diffeomorphism of $\overline{\Omega_s^-}$ onto \overline{D} if and only if det $\nabla X_{\text{RKC}} > 0$ everywhere on Γ_s .

7 Page 28 of 33

The condition $X_{\text{RKC}} \in C^1(\overline{\Omega_s})$ is satisfied when the elliptic regularity of (56) provides a solution in a Sobolev space that is embedded in $C^1(\overline{\Omega_s})$, in our case $\mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})$. The condition det $\nabla X_{\text{RKC}} > 0$ can be guaranteed by assuming the data X close enough to the identity. The estimates provided in the next step shows this.

Elliptic regularity, Lipschitz estimates and invertibility. The interest of extending X via the Dirichlet problem (56) lies in the linearity and simplicity of the latter. Therefore we derive straightforwardly the following result, leading to Proposition 3.1:

Proposition A.1. If $X \in \mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)$, the solutions \tilde{X}^{\pm} of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \tilde{X}^{\pm} = 0 \quad in \ \Omega_s^{\pm} \times (0, \infty), \\ \tilde{X}^{\pm} = X \quad on \ \Gamma_s \times (0, \infty), \\ \tilde{X}^{+} = \text{Id} \quad on \ \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty), \end{cases}$$
(57)

satisfy

$$\|\tilde{X}^{\pm} - \mathrm{Id}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} \leq C \|X - \mathrm{Id}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}.$$
(58)

If $||X - \mathrm{Id}||_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)}$ is small enough, the extension \tilde{X}^+ is locally invertible, and \tilde{X}^- is globally invertible. Furthermore, given two mappings $X_1 - \mathrm{Id}$, $X_2 - \mathrm{Id} \in \mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)$, the respective solutions \tilde{X}_1^{\pm} , \tilde{X}_2^{\pm} of (57) satisfy

$$\|\tilde{X}_1^{\pm} - \tilde{X}_2^{\pm}\|_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}(\Omega_s^{\pm})} \le C \|X_1 - X_2\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)}.$$
(59)

Without ambiguity we omit the notation \tilde{X}^{\pm} for keeping only \tilde{X} .

Proof. Estimates (58) and (59) are straightforwardly deduced from the elliptic regularity of system (57) in $\mathbf{H}^{5/2}(\Omega_s^{\pm})$. Next, recalling that the differential of $A \mapsto \det A$ is $H \mapsto \operatorname{cof}(A) : H$, and that in dimension 2 the mapping $A \mapsto \operatorname{cof}(A)$ is linear, for all $t \geq 0$ we deduce from the mean value theorem

$$\begin{aligned} |\det \nabla \tilde{X}(y,t) - 1|_{\mathbb{R}} &\leq \sup_{\alpha \in [0,1]} |\operatorname{cof}(\alpha y + (1-\alpha)\tilde{X}(y,t))|_{\mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}} |\tilde{X}(y,t) - y|_{\mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}}, \\ \|\det \nabla \tilde{X}(\cdot,t) - 1\|_{\mathcal{C}(\overline{\Omega_{s}^{\pm}})} &\leq C \left(1 + \|\tilde{X}(\cdot,t)\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}\right) \|X - \operatorname{Id}\|_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_{s})}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, assuming $||X - \mathrm{Id}||_{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma_s)}$ small enough shows that $\det \nabla \tilde{X}(y,t) > C > 0$ for all $(y,t) \in \Omega_s \times (0,\infty)$. Then the local invertibility of $\tilde{X}_{|\Omega_s^+}$ is due to the inverse function theorem, and the global invertibility of $\tilde{X}_{|\Omega_s^-}$ follows from Lemma A.1.

A.2 Proof of Proposition 4.1 and Corollary 4.1

We start by recalling the two following lemmas that are needed for what follows. The first one can be deduced from [29, Exercise 3.4, Chapter III].

Lemma A.2. For
$$p^{\pm} \in L^2(\Omega_s^{\pm})$$
, there exists $v_p^{\pm} \in \mathbf{H}_0^1(\Omega_s^{\pm})$ satisfying
 $-\operatorname{div} v_p^{\pm} = p^{\pm} \quad in \ \Omega_s^{\pm}, \qquad v_p^{\pm} = 0 \quad on \ \partial\Omega_s^{\pm},$
(60)

and

$$\|v_{p}^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{H}^{1}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})} \leq C \|p^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{\pm})}.$$
(61)

The second lemma is given in [29, Theorem 1.1, Chapter IV].

Lemma A.3. For $h^{\pm} \in \mathbf{W}$, there exists a unique solution (v_h^{\pm}, q_h^{\pm}) in $\mathbf{V}^{\pm} \times Q^{\pm}$ to the Stokes problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div} \sigma(v_h^{\pm}, q_h^{\pm}) = 0 \quad and \quad \operatorname{div} v_h^{\pm} = 0 \quad in \ \Omega_s^{\pm}, \\ v_h^{+} = 0 \quad on \ \partial\Omega, \\ v_h^{\pm} = h^{\pm} \quad on \ \Gamma_s. \end{cases}$$
(62)

JMFM

$$\|v_h^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Omega_s^{\pm})} + \|q_h^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^{\pm})} \le C \|h^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{H}^{1/2}(\Gamma_s)}.$$
(63)

We are now in position to prove Proposition 4.1 and Corollary 4.1.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. We adopt the method used for proving [63, Lemma 6, p. 144]. Recall the definition of the bilinear form

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}) = 2\nu\langle\varepsilon(u^{+}),\varepsilon(v^{+})\rangle_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + 2\nu\langle\varepsilon(u^{-}),\varepsilon(v^{-})\rangle_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} - \langle p^{+},\operatorname{div} v^{+}\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} - \langle p^{-},\operatorname{div} v^{-}\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} - \langle q^{-},\operatorname{div} u^{-}\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} - \langle \lambda^{+},v^{+}-\varphi\rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}} - \langle \mu^{+},u^{+}-\phi\rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}} - \langle \lambda^{-},v^{-}-\varphi\rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}} - \langle \mu^{-},u^{-}-\phi\rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}},$$

with the notation $\mathfrak{u} = (u^+, p^+, u^-, p^-, \lambda^+, \lambda^-, \phi)$ and $\mathfrak{v} = (v^+, q^+, v^-, q^-, \mu^+, \mu^-, \varphi) \in \mathfrak{V}$.

Step 1. Choose $\mathfrak{v}_1 = (u^+, -p^+, u^-, -p^-, -\lambda^+, -\lambda^-, \phi)$. Then

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}_1) = 2\nu \left(\|\varepsilon(u^+)\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^+)}^2 + \|\varepsilon(u^-)\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)}^2 \right).$$
(64)

Step 2. Choose $v_2 = (v_p^+, 0, v_p^-, 0, 0, 0, 0)$, where $v_p^{\pm} \in \mathbf{H}_0^1(\Omega_s^{\pm})$ is the solution of system (60) corresponding to p^{\pm} , satisfying (61). Then, using successively the Cauchy-Schwarz and the Young's inequalities for any $\alpha > 0$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}_{2}) &= 2\nu\langle\varepsilon(u^{+}),\varepsilon(v_{p}^{+})\rangle_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + 2\nu\langle\varepsilon(u^{-}),\varepsilon(v_{p}^{-})\rangle_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} + \|p^{+}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})}^{2} + \|p^{-}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})}^{2} \\ &\geq \|p^{+}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})}^{2} + \|p^{-}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})}^{2} - \alpha\nu\|\varepsilon(u^{+})\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})}^{2} - \alpha\nu\|\varepsilon(u^{-})\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})}^{2} \\ &\quad -\frac{\nu}{\alpha}\|\varepsilon(v_{p}^{+})\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})}^{2} - \frac{\nu}{\alpha}\|\varepsilon(v_{p}^{-})\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, combining the Korn's inequality for v_p^{\pm} and the estimate (61), we deduce

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}_2) \ge \left(1 - \frac{C\nu}{\alpha}\right) \left(\|p^+\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\Omega_s^+)}^2 + \|p^-\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)}^2\right) - \alpha\nu \left(\|\varepsilon(u^+)\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\Omega_s^+)}^2 + \|\varepsilon(u^-)\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\Omega_s^-)}^2\right), \quad (65)$$

where the constant $C > 0$ is independent of $\alpha > 0$.

Step 3. Choose $v_3 = (v_{h_n}^+, q_{h_n}^+, v_{h_n}^-, q_{h_n}^-, 0, 0, 0)$, where $(v_{h_n}^\pm, q_{h_n}^\pm)$ is the solution of the Stokes system (62) with $v_{h_n \mid \Gamma}^\pm = \|\lambda^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{W}'} h_n^{\pm}$ as data, where the sequences $(h_n^{\pm})_n$ are such that $\|h_n^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{W}} = 1$ and $-\langle \lambda^{\pm}, h_n^{\pm} \rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}} \rightarrow \|\lambda^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{W}'}$. Then for some $\beta > 0$, the same combination of the Cauchy-Schwarz and Young's inequalities yields

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{M}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v}_{3}) &= 2\nu \langle \varepsilon(u^{+}), \varepsilon(v_{h_{n}}^{+}) \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})} + 2\nu \langle \varepsilon(u^{-}), \varepsilon(v_{h_{n}}^{-}) \rangle_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} \\ &- \langle q_{h_{n}}^{+}, \operatorname{div} u^{+} \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} - \langle q_{h_{n}}^{-}, \operatorname{div} u^{-} \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})} - \langle \lambda^{+}, h_{n}^{+} \rangle_{\mathbf{W}', \mathbf{W}} - \langle \lambda^{-}, h_{n}^{-} \rangle_{\mathbf{W}', \mathbf{W}} \\ &\geq - \langle \lambda^{+}, h_{n}^{+} \rangle_{\mathbf{W}', \mathbf{W}} - \langle \lambda^{-}, h_{n}^{-} \rangle_{\mathbf{W}', \mathbf{W}} \\ &- \frac{1}{\beta} \left(\nu \| \varepsilon(v_{h_{n}}^{+}) \|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})}^{2} + \| q_{h_{n}}^{+} \|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})}^{2} + \nu \| \varepsilon(v_{h_{n}}^{-}) \|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})}^{2} + \| q_{h_{n}}^{-} \|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})}^{2} \right) \\ &- \beta \left(\nu \| \varepsilon(u^{+}) \|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})}^{2} + \| \operatorname{div} u^{+} \|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{+})}^{2} + \nu \| \varepsilon(u^{-}) \|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})}^{2} + \| \operatorname{div} u^{-} \|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega_{s}^{-})}^{2} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Estimate (63) yields $\|v_{h_n}\|_{\mathbf{H}^1(\Omega_s^{\pm})} + \|q_{h_n}^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{L}^2(\Omega_s^{\pm})} \leq C \|\lambda^{\pm}\|_{\mathbf{W}'}$, and by passing to the limit we deduce

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}_3) \ge \left(1 - \frac{C}{\beta}\right) \left(\|\lambda^+\|_{\mathbf{W}'}^2 + \|\lambda^-\|_{\mathbf{W}'}^2\right) - C\beta\nu \left(\|\varepsilon(u^+)\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^+)}^2 + \|\varepsilon(u^-)\|_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^-)}^2\right), \tag{66}$$

where here again the generic constant C > 0 is independent of $\beta > 0$.

Step 4. Choose $\mathfrak{v}_4 = (0, 0, 0, 0, \phi, \phi, 0)$. With the Young's inequalities we estimate

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}_4) = 2\|\phi\|_{\mathbf{W}}^2 - \langle\phi, u^+\rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}} - \langle\phi, u^-\rangle_{\mathbf{W}';\mathbf{W}} \ge 2\|\phi\|_{\mathbf{W}}^2 - \|\phi\|_{\mathbf{W}'}\|u^+\|_{\mathbf{W}} - \|\phi\|_{\mathbf{W}'}\|u^-\|_{\mathbf{W}},$$

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}_4) \ge \|\phi\|_{\mathbf{W}}^2 - \frac{1}{2}\left(\|u^+\|_{\mathbf{W}}^2 + \|u^-\|_{\mathbf{W}}^2\right),$$

7 Page 30 of 33

S. Court

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}_4) \ge \|\phi\|_{\mathbf{W}}^2 - C\left(\|u^+\|_{\mathbf{V}}^2 + \|u^-\|_{\mathbf{V}}^2\right),$$

where C > 0 is deduced from the constant of the trace operators and those of the Korn's inequality.

Step 5. Choose $\mathfrak{v} = \mathfrak{v}_1 + \gamma_2 \mathfrak{v}_2 + \gamma_3 \mathfrak{v}_3 + \gamma_4 \mathfrak{v}_4$, for some positive constants γ_2 , γ_3 and γ_4 . Then, the estimates (64)–(67) yields

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}) \geq (2\nu - \alpha\nu\gamma_2 - \beta\nu\gamma_3 - C\gamma_4) \left(\|\varepsilon(u^+)\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^+)} + \|\varepsilon(u^-)\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^-)} \right) \\ + \gamma_2 \left(1 - \frac{C\nu}{\alpha} \right) \left(\|p^+\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^+)} + \|p^-\|^2_{\mathbb{L}^2(\Omega^-)} \right) + \gamma_3 \left(1 - \frac{C}{\beta} \right) \left(\|\lambda^+\|^2_{\mathbf{W}'} + \|\lambda^-\|^2_{\mathbf{W}'} \right) + \gamma_4 \|\phi\|^2_{\mathbf{W}}.$$

By choosing α and β large enough ($\alpha > C\nu$ and $\beta > C$), and next γ_2 , γ_3 and γ_4 small enough, we get

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}) \ge \delta \|\mathfrak{u}\|^2,\tag{68}$$

for some constant $\delta > 0$, after having used the Korn's inequality of Lemma 2.0. It remains us to verify that the norm of \mathfrak{v} so chosen is controlled by the norm of \mathfrak{u} , namely the estimate $\|\mathfrak{v}\| \leq C \|\mathfrak{u}\|$, which holds from (61) and (63). Thus we obtain $\frac{\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v})}{\|\mathfrak{v}\|} \geq C \|\mathfrak{u}\|$, which enables us to complete the proof.

Proof of Corollary 4.1. The result is a direct consequence of the Banach-Nečas-Babuška theorem (see [27, Theorem 2.6, page 85]). The continuity of the linear mapping \mathcal{G} is obvious. Given the inf-sup condition of Proposition 4.1, it remains us to verify the injectivity property for the bilinear form. Let $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathfrak{V}$ be such that $\mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{u},\mathfrak{v}) = 0$ for all $\mathfrak{v} \in \mathfrak{V}$. It is sufficient to choose \mathfrak{v} like in the last step of the proof of Proposition 4.1, so that (68) holds, and implies $\mathfrak{u} = 0$, which concludes the proof.

References

- Abels, H., Daube, J., Kraus, C.: Pressure reconstruction for weak solutions of the two-phase incompressible Navier-Stokes equations with surface tension. Asymptot. Anal. 113(1–2), 51–56 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3233/asy-181507
- [2] Alazard, T.: Stabilization of the water-wave equations with surface tension. Ann. PDE 3(2), 17–41 (2017). https://doi. org/10.1007/s40818-017-0032-x
- [3] Aleksandrov, A.D.: Uniqueness theorems for surfaces in the large I. Vestnik Leningrad. Univ. 11(19), 5–17 (1956)
- [4] Aleksandrov, A.D.: Uniqueness theorems for surfaces in the large I. Am. Math. Soc. Transl. 2(21), 341–354 (1962). https://doi.org/10.1090/trans2/021/09
- [5] Alessandrini, G., Nesi, V.: Invertible harmonic mappings, beyond Kneser. Ann. Sci. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. 8(3), 451–468 (2009)
- [6] Alessandrini, G., Nesi, V.: Errata Corrige. Invertible harmonic mappings, beyond Kneser [MR2574339]. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. 17(2), 815–818 (2017). ISSN: 0391-173X
- [7] Allaire, G.: Conception optimale de structures. Vol. 58. Mathematiques & Applications (Berlin) [Mathematics & Applications]. With the collaboration of Marc Schoenauer (INRIA) in the writing of Chapter 8. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, (2007), pp. xii+278. ISBN: 978-3-540-36710-9; 3-540-36710-1
- [8] Antil, H., Nochetto, R.H., Sodre, P.: Optimal control of a free boundary problem with surface tension effects: a priori error analysis. SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 53(5), 2279–2306 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1137/140958360
- [9] Gh, B.: The dynamics of surfaces: an introduction to the study of biological surface phenomena (2) Motion of liquids (3) liquid drops and globules: their formation and movements. Nature 95(2378), 337–338 (1915). https://doi.org/10.1038/095337b0
- [10] Bensoussan, A., et al.: Representation and control of infinite dimensional systems. Second. Systems and control: foundations and applications. Birkhauser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, (2007), pp. xxviii+575. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-0-8176-4581-6
- [11] Carlos, P., Rocha, S.: Surface tension free boundary problems: formulation, optimal control and numerics. Thesis (Ph.D.)-University of Maryland, College Park. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, p. 188 (2013). ISBN: 978-1303-490859
- [12] Chakraborty, S.: Surface-tension-driven flow. In: Li, D. (Eds) Encyclopedia of microfluidics and nanofluidics, New York, NY: Springer New York, (2015), pp. 3170-3186. ISBN: 978-1-4614-5491-5. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5491-5_ 1510
- [13] Court, S.: Stabilization of a fluid-solid system, by the deformation of the self-propelled solid. Part I: the linearized system. Evol. Equ. Control Theory 3(1), 59–82 (2014). https://doi.org/10.3934/eect.2014.3.59
- [14] Court, S.: Stabilization of a fluid-solid system, by the deformation of the self-propelled solid. Part II: the nonlinear system. Evol. Equ. Control Theory 3(1), 83–118 (2014). https://doi.org/10.3934/eect.2014.3.83
- [15] Court, S.: A fictitious domain approach for a mixed finite element method solving the two-phase Stokes problem with surface tension forces. Appl. Math. 359, 30–54 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cam.2019.03.029

(67)

- [16] Coutand, D., Hole, J., Shkoller, S.: Well-posedness of the free-boundary compressible 3-D Euler equations with surface tension and the zero surface tension limit. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 45(6), 3690–3767 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1137/ 120888697
- [17] Coutand, D., Shkoller, S.: Well-posedness of the free-surface incompressible Euler equations with or without surface tension. J. Am. Math. Soc. 20(3), 829–930 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1090/S0894-0347-07-00556-5
- [18] Cui, J., Gao, G., Sun, S.-M.: Controllability and stabilization of gravity-capillary surface water waves in a basin. Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. (2021)
- [19] Denisova, I.V.: A priori estimates for the solution of the linear nonstationary problem connected with the motion of a drop in a liquid medium. In: Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 1, 991, no. 3, 1—24, Boundary value problems of mathematical physics, vol. 188. 14 (Russian). 3-21 (1990), 191
- [20] Denisova, I.V.: Solvability in Holder spaces of a linear problem on the motion of two fluids separated by a closed surface. Algebra i Analiz 5(4), 122–148 (1993)
- [21] Denisova, I.V.: Problem of the motion of two viscous incompressible fluids separated by a closed free interface. In: Mathematical problems for Navier–Stokes equations (Centro, 1993). vol. 37. 1-2. 31-40 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00995127
- [22] Denisova, I.V., Solonnikov, V.A.: Solvability of a linearized problem on the motion of a drop in a fluid flow. In: Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) 171. Kraev. Zadachi Mat. Fiz. i Smezh. Voprosy Teor. Funktsii. 20, 53-65 (1989), 184. ISSN: 0373-2703. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01671933
- [23] Denisova, I.V., Solonnikov, V.A.: Solvability in Holder spaces of a model initial-boundary value problem generated by a problem on the motion of two fluids. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) 188.Kraev. Zadachi Mat. Fiz. i Smezh. Voprosy Teor. Funktsii. 22, 5–44 (1991), 186. ISSN: 0373–2703. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02149145
- [24] Denisova, I.V., Solonnikov, V.A.: Classical solvability of the problem of the motion of two viscous incompressible fluids. Algebra i Analiz 7(5), 101–142 (1995)
- [25] Denisova, I.V., Solonnikov, V.A.: Motion of a drop in an incompressible fluid. Advances in Mathematical Fluid Mechanics. Lecture Notes in Mathematical Fluid Mechanics. Birkhauser/Springer, Cham, (2021) pp. vii+316. ISBN: 978-3-030-70052-2; 978-3-030-70053-9. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70053-9
- [26] Douady, A., Earle, C.J.: Conformally natural extension of homeomorphisms of the circle. Acta Math. 157(1–2), 23–48 (1986). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02392590
- [27] Ern, A., and Guermond, J.-L.: Theory and practice of finite elements. Vol. 159. Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, (2004) pp. xiv+524. ISBN: 0-387-20574-8. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-4355-5
- [28] Fischer, J., Hensel, S.: Weak-strong uniqueness for the Navier–Stokes equation for two fluids with surface tension. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 236(2), 967–1087 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00205-019-01486-2
- [29] Galdi, G.P.: An introduction to the mathematical theory of the Navier-Stokes equations. Vol. I, Vol. 38. Springer tracts in natural philosophy. Linearized steady problems. Springer-Verlag, New York, (1994), pp. xii+450. ISBN: 0-387-94172-X. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-5364-8
- [30] Gancedo, F., Granero-Belinchon, R., Scrobogna, S.: Surface tension stabilization of the Rayleigh-Taylor instabil-ity for a fluid layer in a porous medium. Ann. Inst. H Poincare Anal. Non Lineaire 37(6), 1299–1343 (2020). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.anihpc.2020.04.005
- [31] Gancedo, F., Granero-Belinchon, R., Scrobogna, S.: Global existence in the Lipschitz class for the N-Peskin problem. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 72(2), 553–602 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1512/iumj.2023.72.9320
- [32] Gancedo, F., Granero-Belinchon, R., Salguero, E.: Long time interface dynamics for gravity Stokes flow. (2023). arXiv: 2211.03437 [math.AP]
- [33] Garcia-Juarez, E., Mori, Y., Strain, R.M.: The Peskin problem with viscosity contrast. Anal. PDE 16(3), 785–838 (2023). https://doi.org/10.2140/apde.2023.16.785
- [34] Garcia-Juarez, E., et al.: Well-Posedness of the 3D Peskin Problem (2023). arXiv:2301.12153 [math.AP]
- [35] Grubb, G., Solonnikov, V.A.: Boundary value problems for the nonstationary Navier-Stokes equations treated by pseudodifferential methods. Math. Scand. 692(1991), 217–290 (1992). https://doi.org/10.7146/math.scand.a-12380
- [36] Hackbusch, W.: Elliptic differential equations. Second. Vol. 18. Springer series in computational mathematics. Theory and numerical treatment. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (2017) pp. xiv+455. ISBN: 978-3-662-54960-5; 978-3-66254961-2. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-54961-2
- [37] Hebey, E.: Nonlinear analysis on manifolds: Sobolev spaces and inequalities. Vol. 5. Courant lecture notes in mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999, pp. x+309. ISBN: 0-9658703-4-0; 0-8218-2700-6
- [38] Kato, T.: Perturbation theory for linear operators. Classics in Mathematics. Reprint of the 1980 edition. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (1995), pp. xxii+619. ISBN: 3-540-58661-X
- [39] Kung, C.F., et al.: Blood flow driven by surface tension in a microchannel. Microfuidics Nanofuidics (2009). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10404-008-0345-x
- [40] Leblond, A.: Well-posedness of the Stokes-transport system in bounded domains and in the infinite strip. J. Math. Pures Appl. 158, 120–143 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpur.2021.10.006
- [41] Matioc, B.-V., Prokert, G.: Two-phase Stokes flow by capillarity in full 2D space: an approach via hydrodynamic potentials. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 151(6), 1815–1845 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1017/prm.2020.82
- [42] Matioc, B.-V., Prokert, G.: Two-phase Stokes flow by capillarity in the plane: the case of different viscosities. NoDEA Nonlinear Differ. Equa. Appl. 29(5), 34 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00030-022-00785-0
- [43] Mecherbet, A., Sueur, F.: A few remarks on the transport-Stokes system. (2022). arXiv: 2209.11637 [math.AP]

- [44] Mori, Y., Rodenberg, A., Spirn, D.: Well-posedness and global behavior of the Peskin problem of an immersed elastic filament in Stokes flow. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 72(5), 887–980 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1002/cpa.21802
- [45] Peskin, C.S.: The immersed boundary method. Acta Numer. 11, 479–517 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0962492902000077
- [46] Prass, J., Simonett, G.: Analysis of the boundary symbol for the two-phase Navier-Stokes equations with surface tension. In: Nonlocal and abstract parabolic equations and their applications. Vol. 86. Banach Center Publ. Polish Acad. Sci. Inst. Math., Warsaw, (2009), pp. 265-285. https://doi.org/10.4064/bc86-0-17
- [47] Priiss, J., Simonett, G.: On the two-phase Navier–Stokes equations with surface tension. Interfaces Free Bound. 12(3), 311–345 (2010). https://doi.org/10.4171/IFB/237
- [48] Pruiss, J., Simonett, G.: Analytic solutions for the two-phase Navier–Stokes equations with surface tension and gravity. In: Parabolic problems. Vol. 80. Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl. Birkhauser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, (2011), 507-540. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-0348-0075-4_26
- [49] Prass, J., Simonett, G., Zacher, R.: On the qualitative behaviour of incompressible two-phase flows with phase transitions: the case of equal densities. Interfaces Free Bound. 15(4), 405–428 (2013). https://doi.org/10.4171/IFB/308
- [50] Prass, J., et al.: On well-posedness of incompressible two-phase flows with phase transitions: the case of equal densities. Evol. Equ. Control Theory 1(1), 171–194 (2012). https://doi.org/10.3934/eect.2012.1.171
- [51] Prass, J., et al.: On incompressible two-phase flows with phase transitions and variable surface tension. In: Recent developments of mathematical fuid mechanics, p. 411442. Basel, Adv. Math. Fluid Mech. Birkhauser/Springer (2016)
- [52] Rana, S., et al.: Control of surface tension at liquid-liquid interfaces using nanoparticles and nanoparticle- protein complexes. Langmuir 28(4), 2023–2027 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1021/la204017z
- [53] Raymond, J.-P.: Feedback stabilization of a fluid-structure model. SIAM J. Control Optim. 48(8), 5398–5443 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1137/080744761
- [54] Rivkind, V.J.: A study of the problem of the stationary motion of a drop in the flow of a viscous incompressible fluid. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 227(5), 1071–1074 (1976)
- [55] Rivkind, V.J.: Stationary motion of a weakly deformed drop in the flow of a viscous fluid. In: Zap. Naucn. Sew,. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) 69. Boundary value problems of mathematical physics and related questions in the theory of functions, 10, 157—170, 276—277 (1977)
- [56] Rivkind, V.J.: Steady-state motion of a viscous drop with account taken of its deformation. In: Zap. Nauchn. Sew. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) 84. Boundary value problems of mathematical physics and related questions in the theory of functions, 11, pp. 220—242, 314, 320 (1979). ISSN: 0207-6772
- [57] Rivkind, V.J., Fridman, N.B.: The Navier–Stokes equations with discontinuous coefficients. In: Zap. Naucn. Sew. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) 38. Boundary value problems of mathematical physics and related questions in the theory of functions, 7, pp. 137—148 (1973)
- [58] Rivkind, V.J., Ryskin, G.M., Fishbein, M.S.: The motion of a spherical drop in the flow of a viscous incompressible fluid. In: Inzh.-Fiz. Zh. 6 (1971)
- [59] Rodenberg, A.: 2D Peskin problews of an iwwersed elastic filawent in stokes flow. Thesis (Ph.D.)-University of Minnesota. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2018, p. 152. ISBN: 978-0438-16892-3. http://gateway.proquestcom/openurl? url_ver=Z39.88-2004&rft_val_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx:dissertation&res_dat=xri:pqm&rft_dat=xri:pqdiss:10824362
- [60] Smale, S.: Diffeomorphisms of the 2-sphere. Proc. Awer. Math. Soc. 10, 621–626 (1959). https://doi.org/10.2307/2033664
- [61] Solonnikov, V.A.: Solvability of a problem on the evolution of a viscous incompressible luid, bounded by a free surface, on a finite time interval. Algebra i Analiz **3**(1), 222–257 (1991)
- [62] Sontag, E.D.: Mathematical control theory. Second. Vol. 6. Texts in applied mathematics. Deterministic finite- dimensional systems. Springer-Verlag, New York (1998), pp. xvi+531. ISBN: 0-387-98489-5. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4612-0577-7
- [63] Stenberg, R.: On some techniques for approximating boundary conditions in the finite element method. In: J. Cowput. Appl. Math. 63(1-3), (1995). International symposium on mathematical modelling and computational methods modelling 94 (Prague, 1994), pp. 139—148. ISSN: 0377-0427. https://doi.org/10.1016/0377-0427(95)00057-7
- [64] Surface tension. In: Physicochewical hydrodynawics. Wiley, (1994), pp. 305—361. ISBN: 9780471725138. https://doi. org/10.1002/0471725137.ch10.https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/0471725137.ch10
- [65] Takahashi, T., Tucsnak, M.: Global strong solutions for the two-dimensional motion of an infinite cylinder in a viscous fluid. J. Math. Fluid Mech. 6(1), 53–77 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00021-003-0083-4
- [66] Temam, R.: Prohlewes wathewatiques en plasticite. Vol. 12. Methodes Mathematiques de l'Informatique [Mathe- matical Methods of Information Science]. Gauthier-Villars, Montrouge, (1983), pp. vii+353. ISBN: 2-04-015429-9
- [67] Wang, Y., Tice, I., Kim, C.: The viscous surface-internal wave problem: global well-posedness and decay. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 212(1), 1–92 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00205-013-0700-2
- [68] Willmore, T.J.: Riewannian geowetry. Oxford Science Publications. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, (1993), pp. xii+318. ISBN: 0-19-853253-9
- [69] Ye, D.: Prescribing the Jacobian determinant in Sobolev spaces. Ann. Inst. H Poincare Anal. Non Lineaire. 11(3), 275–296 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0294-1449(16)30185-8
- [70] Zabczyk, J.: Mathewatical control theory—an introduction. Systems and control: foundations and applications. Second edition [of 2348543]. Birkhauser/Springer, Cham, (2020), pp. xxvi+336. ISBN: 978-3-030-44776-2; 978-3-03044778-6. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-44778-6
- [71] Zografov, N., Tankovsky, N., Andreeva, A.: Droplet oscillations driven by an electric field. In: Colloids and surfaces a: physicochewical and engineering aspects 460 (2014). 27th European colloid and interface society conference (27th ECIS

2013), pp 351 - 354. ISSN: 0927-7757. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2013.12.013. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0927775713009308

Sébastien Court Department of Mathematics University of Innsbruck Technikerstrasse 13 6020 Innsbruck Austria

and

(accepted: November 16, 2023)

Digital Science Center University of Innsbruck Innrain 15 6020 Innsbruck Austria e-mail: sebastien.court@uibk.ac.at